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Independent Auditor’s Report
[Translation from Russian original]

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of

! Joint-Stock Company RANBAXY

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Joint-Stock Company RANBAXY (hereinafter —

! JSC RANBAXY), which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2024, statement of financial results
for the year then ended, supplements to the balance sheet and the statement of financial results, including
the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the
balance sheet and the statement of financial results, and notes to the financial statements for 2024, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of JSC
RANBAXY as at 31 December 2024, its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Russian accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the audited entity in accordance with the Rules of
Independence of Auditors and Audit Organizations and the Code of Professional Ethics of Auditors, as well
as with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Members of the Board of Directors for
the Financial Statements

M_anagement is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
With Russian accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to

enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error,

.” Preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to continue

E a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
IS of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has
fealistic alternative but to do so.

“€mbers of the Board of Directors are responsible for overseeing the entity’s financial reporting process.

NBAXY

fﬁ?f Auditor's Report

” 'QN NOTE: Our report has been prepared in Russian and in English. In all matters of interpretation of

0, Views o opinions, the Russian version of our report takes precedence over the English version. 1
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Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

a) identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

b) obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control.

c) evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

d) conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

e) evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

Engagement partner on the audit

resulting in this independent Panfilova, Larisa Alexandrovna
auditor’s report acting on behalf of the audit firm Audit qualification certificate dated
under power of attorney No. 23/25 18 April 2005 No. 022777, registration
dated 09 January 2025 number 22006035483

Date of the independent auditor’s report: 01 April 2025

JSC RANBAXY
Independent Auditor's Report
MANSLATION NOTE: Our report has been prepared in Russian and in Engiish. In all matters of interpretation
of Information, views or opinions, the Russian version of our report takes precedence over the English version. 2



FBK

Audit | Consulting | Law

. udited enti’[y Auditor

',we: Name:
Joint-Stock Company RANBAXY (JSC RANBAXY). FBK, LLC.
Address of the legal entity within its location: Address of the legal entity within its location:

27/8 Elektroz_avodskaya_ St., Room 14/1, Moscow, 44 Myasnitskaya St, Bldg 2, Moscow, 101000,
4107023, Russian Federation. Russian Federation.

State registration: State registration:

The registration entry was made in the Unified State
Register of Legal Entities on 20 May 2004 under
rimary  state  registration number  (OGRN)
1047796353846.

The registration entry was made in the Unified
State Register of Legal Entities on 24 July 2002
under primary state registration number
1027700058286.

Primary number of registration entry in the register
of auditors and audit organisations of the Seli-
regulatory organisation of auditors Association
"Sodruzhestvo" 11506030481.

JSC RANBAXY

' INdependent Auditor’s Report

TRANSLAT!ON NOTE: Our report has been prepared in Russian and in English. In all matters of interpretation
4 information, views or opinions, the Russian version of our report takes precedence over the English version.




Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2024

Codes
Form on OKUD 0710001
Date (day, month, year)] 31 12 2024
ity Joint-Stock Company RANBAXY OKPO 72983356
En
Taxpayer identification number INN 7720508094
f economic 46.46.1
:Zg;; Wholesaling of pharmaceutical and medical products OKVED 2
organizational legal form / form of ownership
Ownership of foreign legal OKOPF/OKES 12267 23
Joint-Stock Company / entities
Measurement unit: thousand roubles OKE| 384
L ocation (address)
27 Elektrozavodskaya ul., bldg. 8, room 14/1, Moscow, 107023, Russia
The financial statements are subject to statutory audit YES I:l NO
Name of the audit firm/full name of the individual auditor
FBK, LLC
Taxpayer identification number of the audit firm/individual auditor INN 7701017140
] ! . A - R . OGRN/
Primary state registration number of the audit firm/individual auditor OGRNIP 1027700058286
Notes Narrative Code At 31 fiaiat B el
December 2024 | December 2023 | December 2022
ASSETS
I. NON-CURRENT ASSETS
3 Intangible assets 1110 38 689 19 662 13 876
Results of research and development 1120 - = -
Intangible development assets 1130 . - i
Tangible development assets 1140 = - 8
4 |Fixed assets 1150 257 744 191 399 73213
including:
Right-of-use asset 1151 252 267 185 909 66 381
Fixed assets in the entity 1152 3510 5490 6 833
1153
Capital investments in fixed assets in progress 1967 - -
Income-bearing investments into tangible assets 1160
5 Financial investments 1170 504 800 ) 1 530 000
20 Deferred tax assets 1180 444 772 239 893 149 650
—________ |Other non-current assets 1190 E 3 4
: Total for Section | 1100 1246 006 450 954 1766 740
Il. CURRENT ASSETS
B Inventories 1210 2 453 289 2 359 209 1562 938
1220
5 Input value-added tax 184 585 110 483 533
: Accounts receivable 1230 7 582 678 5234 249 4 334 954
3 . . 1240
Financial investments (excluding cash equivalents) - 1140 000 -
b 1250
Cash and cash equivalents 62 988 36 050 403 852
including:
Cash on hand 1251 g - 6




Operatin accounts 1252 62 501 7 050 403 846

Foreign currency accounts 1253 486 - g

Deposited 1254 4 29 000 2
Siher curent asses 1260 3 450 3726 3315].
Total for Section Il 1200 10 286 989 8 883 717 6 305 593
'BALANCE 1600 11 532 995 9 334 671 8 072 332}




Form 0710001 p.2

(signature) {print name)

March 2025

= . As at 31 As at 31 As at 31
f, Nemaliye Code | hecember 2024 | December 2023 | December 2022
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
ill. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Authorized cgpitgl (contributed capital, charter 1310
capital, contributions of partners) 163 000 163 000 163 000

Treasury shares 1320
_— |Revaluation of non-current assets 1340 - 2 P
__—— [Additional capital (without revaluation) 1350 270 000 B 5
—— |Reserve capital 1360 40 750 40 750 40 750

i earnings (uncovered loss 1370
g=ined os ( ) 1 468 074 1779 304 1772 064
Total for Section 1l 1300 1 941 824 1 983 054 1 975 814

IV. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Borrowings 1410 - = S
Deferred tax liabilities 1420 99 465 53172 17 060
Estimated liabilities 1430 = 4 . d
Other liabilities 1450 148 746 174 214 44 905
Total for Section IV 1400 248 211 227 386 61 965
V. CURRENT LIABILITIES
Borrowings 1510 200 754 1238 836 -
Accounts payable 1520 8 663 209 5 578 642 5735 599
Deferred income 1530 - - a
Estimated liabilities 1540 478 997 306 753 208 954
Other liabilities 1550 = . -
Total for Section V 1500 9 342 960 7 124 231 6 034 553
BALANCE 1700 11 532 995 9 334 671 8 072 332
 Director Artur Valiev




for January-December 2024

Statement of Financial Results

Form on OKUD
Date (day, month, year)

Codes

0710002

31 12 | 2024

Joint-Stock Company RANBAXY OKPO 72983356
; L — . INN 7720508094
enrion’c Wholesaling of pharmaceutical and medical products OKVED 2 46481
al legal form / form of ownership
Ownership of foreign legal OKOPE/OKES 12267 23
. stock Company / entities
: ement unit thousand roubles OKEI 384
e For J For J
. or January- or January-
Notes . Hamalive Code December 2%,24 December 2?),23
Revenue 2110 11 476 669 10157 118
Cost of sales 2120 (7 274 864) (6 252 922)
Gross profit (loss) 2100 4 201 805 3904 196
Selling expenses 2210 (4 598 660) (3 844 066)
Administrative expenses 2220 - &
Profit (loss) on sales 2200 (396 855) 60 130
Income from participation in other entities 2310 5 B
Interest receivable 2320 129 882 114 771
Interest payable 2330 (155 949) (139 574)
Other income 2340 105211 118 337
Other expenses 2350 (85 082) (68 307)
Profit (loss) before tax 2300 (402 793) 85 357
Income tax 2410 91 562 (78 118)
including:

current income tax 2411 (67 024) (132 249)
deferred income tax 2412 158 586 54 131
Other 2460 - -
Net profit (loss) 2400 (311 231) 7 239




Form 0710002 p.2

——

i For January- For January-
i e December 2024 December 2023
Result of revaluation of non-current assets not included in | o54¢
net profit (i0ss) for the period _ i
Result of qther operations not included in net profit (loss) 2520
for the period i )
ome tax from operations whose result is not included in

e - 2530
net profit (loss) for the period i )
Total financial result for the period 2500 (311 231) 7239
For reference only

i 2900
Basic earnings (loss) per share ) _
Diluted earnings (loss) per share 2910 (2) _

Clor

Artur Valiev

(print name)

(signature)

arch 2075
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Statement of Cash Flows
for January-December 2024

Joint-Stock Company RANBAXY

Codes

Form on OKUD

0710005

Date (day, month, year)

31 | 12 | 2024

OKPO

72983356

M;ﬁcation number

_conomic . s
gconor! Wholesaling of pharmaceutical and medical products

INN

7720508094

OKVED 2

tonal legal form / form of ownership

. Ownership of foreign legal
/ entities

thousand roubles

etock Company
=ment unit:

OKOPF/OKFS
OKEI

46.46.1

12267 23

384

r""‘" Narrative Code For Janu;gyz-zecember For Januazgyz—gecember
——— Cash flows from operating activities
Total receipts 4110 10 192 778 9 404 922
~ including:
Sales of products, goods, works and services 4111 9 938 404 9 358 299
Lease payments, license fees, royalties, commissions, fees 4112 401 201
Resale of financial investments 4113 - -
Other receipts 4119 253 973 46 422
Total payments 4120 (9 731 363) (11 398 948)
including:
To suppliers (contractors) for materials, supplies, works and
services 4121 (7 319 191) (9 371 927)
Employee compensation 4122 (1 388 303) (1 130 947)
Interest on debt obligations 4123 (130 363) (126 352)
Corporate income tax 4124 (106 532) (152 924)
Other payments 4129 (786 974) (616 798)
|Net cash flows from operating activities 4100 461 415 (1994 026)
Cash flows from investing activities
Total receipts 4210 755 302 481 311
including:
Sales of non-current assets (excluding financial investments) | 4211 961 1121
Sale of shares (interests) in other entities 4212 - -
Loans repayments, sale of debt securities (monetary claims
against other persons) 4213, 635 200 390 000
Dividends, interest on financial debt investments and similar
__receipts from equity participation in other organizations 4214 119 141 90 190
Other receipts 4219 . -
= | payments 4220 (25 175) (13 170)
| Including:
Acquisition, creation, modernization, reconstruction and
~ Préparation of non-current assets for use 4221 (25 175) (13 170)
—2\Cquisition of shares (interests) in other entities 4222 - -
ACquisition of debt securities (monetary claims against other
£=180ns), disbursement of loans 4223 - -
'“Test on debt liabilities, included into the cost of investment
4224 . -
—€r payments 4229 - =
h flows from investing activities 4200 730 127 468 141




Form 0710005 p.2

Narrative Code For Janu;rgz-ADfecember For Janu;gyélgecember
Cash flows from financing activities
- 4310 1102 034 3438 836
4 loan proceeds 4311 1102 034 3438 836
oy contributions of owners (members) 4312 - .
= of shares, increase in participatory interests 4313 - -
. of bonds, bills and other debt securities, etc. 4314 - -
4319 - -
4320 (2 253 741) (2 280 749)
uding:
~ Toowners (members) in connection with repurchase of
| shares (interests) from them or termination or their
~ participation 4321 - -
r Payment of dividends and other profit distributions to owners
: (memberS) .| 4322 = B
| In connection with redemption (repurchase) of bills and other
debt securities, credit and loan repayments 4323 (2 140 871) (2 200 000)
[ Other payments 4329 (112 870) (80 749)
[Net cash flows from financing activities 4300 (1151 707) 1158 087
-Eash flows for the reporting period 4400 39835 (367 798)
h and cash equivalents as at the beginning of the
porting period 4450 36 050 403 852
Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the reporting
riod 4500 62 989 36 050
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates against the rouble 4490 (12 896) (4)

Director Artur Valiev

(print name)

(signature)

28 March 2025
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(OTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OF JSC RANBAXY FOR 2024

3, GENERAL

Joint-Stock Company RANBAXY (hereinafter — JSC RANBAXY, the Company) was established in 2004
(state registration certificate No. 1047796353846 dated 20 May 2004). The abbreviated name of the
Company is JSC RANBAXY.

Registered and actual address: 27 Elektrozavodskaya ul., bidg. 8, room 14/1, Moscow, 107023,
Russia.

The Company has no branches or representative offices.
The Company has the following autonomous subdivisions:
e On 19 December 2008, a standalone subdivision "Warehouse for wholesaling medicinal
products” was established and registered at its location (address: 2, let. B, B2 Dachnaya
Street, Village of Davydovskoye, Luchinskoye Rural Settlement, Istra District, Moscow
Region, 143521, Russian Federation) with the Inspectorate of the Federal Tax Service of
Russia for the town of Istra, Moscow Region.
e On 02 April 2019 the location of the subdivision was changed (new address: Room VI, No.
63, 73, 86, 89, 90, 91, 92, 1 floor, bldg 16B, Block 0060339, Village of Davydovskoye, Istra
District, Moscow Region, 143521, Russian Federation).
® On 17 June 2024 the location of the subdivision was changed (new address: bldg 4, plot 248,
Village of Leshkovo, Istra District, Moscow Region, 143581, Russian Federation).

The main business activity of JSC RANBAXY is wholesaling of pharmaceutical products.

The Company operates under the following licences:

No. | Type of activity Licence number Issued by [?:f:j:f Expiration
. Federal Service for For an
1 E pEmaCe iical FS-99-02-007542 Supervision of 28/11/2019 | unlimited
usiness
Healthcare term

The Company's business activities are subject to Russian laws.

The headcount of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 was 531 and 553 people,
respectively.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The Company's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and
reporting rules that are effective in the Russian Federation.

The accounting function is organised at the Company as required by the Russian accounting
legislation, regulations of the Russian Ministry of Finance and other agencies authorised by the
federal laws to regulate accounting principles and practice.

In 2024, accounting records were maintained in the manner envisaged by the Company's accounting
policies approved as per the General Director's Order dated 29 December 2023 No. 01-YM-2023 and
01 May 2024 No. 01-YN-2023/1.




Financial and tax accounting records were maintained using 1C: Industrial Enterprise Management,
specialised accounting software and ERP Enterprise Management 2.

Going concern assumption

The financial statements have been prepared by the Company's management assuming that the
Company will continue its business in the foreseeable future, does not intend or need to be
liquidated or significantly reduce its operations and, therefore, will duly discharge its obligations.

Chart of accounts

The Company has developed and applied an operating chart of accounts based on the standard chart
of accounts for financial and economic activities of entities as approved by Order No. 94n of the
Russian Ministry of Finance dated 31 October 2000, using certain subaccounts, which enable
preparation of financial statements that comply with Russian accounting and tax legislation, and
separate cost accounting requirements.

Stocktaking

The terms and procedure for stocktaking are defined by the head of the entity, with the exception
of mandatory stocktaking. Stocktaking of fixed assets is carried out once a year.

Stocktaking of all other assets and liabilities was carried out as at 31 December 2024, except for
stocktaking of inventories, which was carried out as at 28 December 2024.

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies

When accounting for business transactions in foreign currencies, the Company uses the Central Bank
of Russia’s (the “CBR”) official exchange rates of the Russian rouble (“RUB”) against such currencies
as at the transaction dates. Assets and liabilities with the value denominated in foreign currencies
are disclosed in the financial statements in the amounts calculated on the basis of the official rouble
exchange rate set by the CBR as at 31 December 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Accounting for assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies is subject to RAR 3/2006.
Under RAR 3/20086, assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies should be translated into
roubles as at: '

® the date of their recognition;
® the last day of the month, the reporting date and the transaction date;
®  the date of the asset (liability) settlement.

Foreign currency gains and losses are presented in the statement of financial results on a net basis
as part of other income or other expenses.

Current and non-current assets and liabilities

Assets classified in the financial statements as current are expected to be used in the Company’s
Production and other activities within 12 months after the reporting date or mature within 12
months after the reporting date. Liabilities classified in the financial statements as current are
expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting date. All other assets and liabilities are
presented as non-current.



Accounting for fixed assets

The historical cost of fixed assets is the total amount of capital investments associated with them,
which comprises actual costs of acquisition, Creation, improvement and/or reconstruction of the
fixed assets less any refundable taxes and levies taking into account all discounts, rebates,
deductions, bonuses and benefits provided to the Company by suppliers, contractors or sellers in
any form.

Assets that have the characteristics of fixed assets but cost less than RUB 100 thousand are
recognised as expenses of the period when related acquisition or creation costs were incurred.

Fixed assets are accounted for by items. If one item of fixed assets has several components with the
values and useful lives substantially different from the value and useful life of the item on the whole,
each component is recognised as a separate item. In particular, the Company’s significant costs that
exceed RUB 500 thousand and are incurred to perform repairs, technical inspection or technical
maintenance of fixed assets less frequently than once in 12 months are recognised as separate items.

Subsequent to recognition, the Company’s fixed assets, other than investment property, are
measured at historical cost and reported in the balance sheet at carrying amount, i.e. their historical
cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment.

Fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis starting from the date of their recognition,
except when consumer properties of fixed assets change over time. The depreciation method is
determined for each group of fixed assets so that it most accurately reflects the timing of the
expected future economic benefits from the use of the group of fixed assets.

The useful life, the residual value and the depreciation method (depreciation elements) of fixed
assets are determined when the assets are recognised. The depreciation elements of fixed assets
are checked for compliance with the conditions for the use of these fixed assets at the end of each
reporting year, and in case of circumstances indicating a possible change in the depreciation
elements.

The useful lives of fixed assets (in months) used for depreciation accrual purposes:

che equipment 35 months
Vehicles 60 months
Other fixed assets 37 months
Machinery and equipment (excluding office equipment) 61 months
Production and maintenance tools 61 months

The historical cost of fixed assets is increased by the amount of capital investments related to their
improvement and/or reconstruction when such capital investments are completed.

The Company tests fixed assets and capital investments in them for impairment and recognises

changes in their carrying amount as a result of impairment as required by IAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

Fixed assets that are disposed of or unable to bring future economic benefits to the Company are
derecognised.



Accounting for intangible assets

starting from 2024, the Company applies RFAS 14/2022 to its financial statements, does not restate
comparative figures for the periods prior to the reporting period and makes a one-off adjustment of
the carrying amount of intangible assets.

The effect of the change in the accounting policies due to the first-time adoption of RFAS 14/2022 is
reported prospectively.

Measurement

When recognised in accounting records, an intangible asset is measured at cost. The cost of an
intangible asset is the total amount of capital investments related to this asset made before the
intangible asset is recognised in the accounting records.

RFAS 14/2022 does not apply to assets that both have the attributes set out in clause 4 of RFAS
14/2022 and have a cost less than RUB 100,000 per item. The costs of acquisition and/or creation of
such assets are recognised as expenses for the period in which capital investments related to
acquisition and/or creation of such assets are completed.

Intangible assets are recognised at actual (historical) cost determined as at the recognition date:

e acquired for consideration — in the amount of actual acquisition expenses and additional
expenses incurred to make them suitable for intended use less value-added tax and other
refundable taxes (unless otherwise stipulated in the legislation of the Russian Federation);

e created by the Company — in the amount of actual creation expenses;
* received under a gift agreement (free of charge) — at market value as at the recognition date;

* received under agreements providing for the fulfilment of obligations (payment) by non-
monetary assets — at the value of assets transferred or to be transferred by the Company.

The useful life is determined when assets are recognised based on:

e thevalidity period of the Company’s rights to intellectual property or means of individualisation
(including the term of the patent, certificate, licence (copyright) agreement for transferred
exclusive rights);

® an expected period of using the asset during which the Company intends to gain economic
benefits as determined by the competent structural subdivision.

Intangible assets are accounted for by items.

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis based on the historical cost of the intangible
assets and the amortisation rate calculated based on their useful lives.

Amortisation is accrued until the asset is fully amortised or derecognised.

The monthly amortisation charge is calculated as follows:

On a straight-line basis as the difference between the carrying and the residual values of the
intangible asset divided by the remaining useful life of the asset.

The residual value of an intangible asset is considered to be zero, except for the cases specified in
clause 36 of RFAS 14/2022.

The useful life, the residual value and the amortisation method (amortisation elements) of intangible
asset are determined when the intangible asset is recognised.

An intangible asset’s amortisation elements are to be reviewed for compliance with the intangible
asset’s use conditions. These reviews are carried out at the end of each reporting year, and in case
of circumstances indicating a possible change in the amortisation elements. Based on the results of
such reviews, if necessary, the entity decides to change the relevant amortisation elements. The
resulting adjustments are recorded as changes in estimates.



on the balance sheet, intangible assets are recognised less accrued amortisation.

Impairment

The Company tests the intangible assets for impairment and recognises a change in its carrying
amount as a result of impairment as required by I1AS 36 Impairment of Assets.

An impairment loss of the intangible asset in excess of the residual value of the asset over its
recoverable amount is recognised as expenses from ordinary activities of the Company.

The recoverable amount is determined as the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal. Value in use is calculated by discounting the amount of revenue associated with the
economic benefits derived from the use of the intangible asset. If the recoverable amount of the
intangible asset increases, its cost is adjusted for amortisation accumulated to the date of the
adjustment up to an amount not exceeding the residual value that would have been determined had
the intangible asset not been impaired.

Intangible assets are not revalued.
Accounting for financial investments

The historical cost of financial investments acquired for consideration is actual acquisition costs less
value-added tax and other refundable taxes (unless otherwise stipulated in the tax legislation of the
Russian Federation).

As at 31 December of each reporting year and if there are indications that financial investments may
be impaired, assets with undeterminable market value are tested for impairment and, if necessary,
a provision for impairment of financial investments is accrued in accordance with RAR 19/02. The
provision is established only if the testing identifies a steady significant decrease in the value of
financial investments.

Accounting for inventories

The actual cost of inventories, other than work in progress and finished goods, comprises actual
costs incurred to acquire (create) the inventories, make them ready for, and delivery to the place of,
consumption, sale or use, less value-added tax and other refundable taxes and incentives received
from suppliers in any form (e.g. discounts, rebates etc.).

When shipped to customers and written off, inventories are measured using the FIFO method.
Non-current assets for sale

Non-current assets for sale are measured at the carrying amount of the respective fixed asset or
another nonBcurrent asset when it is reclassified to non-current assets for sale. Subsequent

measurement of non-current assets for sale is the same as subsequent measurement of inventories.

Accounting for cash and cash equivalents

Highly liquid financial investments with maturities of no more than three months, which are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
are reflected in the balance sheet within cash and cash equivalents.

Accounting for leases
Accounting by the lessee
The Company recognises an underlying asset as at the date on which it is made available for use as

a right-of-use asset and at the same time recognises a lease liability for all leases, except for leases
With the term up to 12 months as at the date on which the underlying asset is made available for



use, and leases with the market value of the underlying asset without depreciation of no more than
RUB 300 thousand. For such leases, lease payments are expensed on a straight-line basis over the
Jease term or using another systematic approach that reflects the pattern in which the lessee
consumes economic benefits from use of the underlying asset.

A lease liability is initially measured as the present value of future lease payments. in most cases,
discounting is based on the rate that the Company uses or would have to use to borrow over a similar
term as it is impossible to determine the rate that causes the present value of the future lease
payments and the unguaranteed residual value of the underlying asset to equal the fair value of the
underlying asset.

Subsequently, the lease liability is increased by the amount of accrued interest and decreased by the
amount of lease payments actually made.

The right-of-use asset is recognised at actual cost, which comprises a) the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability, b) lease payments made at or before the date on which an
underlying asset is made available for use, c) costs incurred by the Company with respect to the
addition of the underlying asset and making it ready to be used for intended purposes, and d) an
estimated liability (in dismantling, restoring the environment etc.) if the liability is incurred as a result
of the receipt of the underlying asset.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis.
The right-of-use asset is reported within fixed assets.

In the statement of cash flows, lease payments are reported within cash flows from financing
activities.

The actual cost of the right-of-use asset and the amount of the lease liability are revised if:

® thereis any change in the lease terms and conditions;

* there is any change in the intention to extend or shorten the lease term that was earlier
considered in calculating the lease term:;

® thereis any change in the amount of lease payments compared to how they were recognised
at the initial measurement of the lease liability.

In the above cases, the change in the amount of the lease liability determined using the revised
discount rate is charged to the value of the right-of-use asset.

Accounting for income
Revenue from ordinary activities is recognised for accounting purposes if:

®  The Company has the right to receive the revenue that arises from a contractual arrangement
or is otherwise appropriately ensured.

®*  The amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

® Thereis certainty that economic benefits will flow to the Company as a result of a particular
transaction. There is certainty that economic benefits will flow to the Company as a result of a
particular transaction when in the future the Company will receive an asset as settlement or
there is no uncertainty regarding the receipt of the asset.



o The legal title (right of ownership, use and disposal) for the products (goods) has been
transferred from the Company to the buyer or work has been accepted by the buyer (a service
has been rendered).

e  Expensesthat have been or will be incurred in connection with the transaction are measurable.

Revenue is determined considering all discounts (return of cash, free-of-charge provision of goods,
rebates and other incentives) provided to buyers (customers) under contracts. If the contract
provides for a discount to the buyer (customer) for the observance of certain contractual conditions,
revenue under such contract is recognised less the discount provided for by the contract.

Income other than income from ordinary activities is classified as other receipts and reflected within
other income.

Accounting for expenses

Expenses are recognised regardless of whether there is an intention to generate revenue or other
income and the form of expenses.

Expenses are recognised when incurred regardless of the time of actual payment of cash and other
type of settlement.

Expenses from ordinary activities comprise:

¢ expensesassociated with purchasing raw materials, consumables, goods and other inventories;

*  expenses incurred during processing (improvement) of inventories to manufacture products,
perform works and provide services;
e selling expenses.

Selling expenses are fully recognised in the reporting period of their recognition as expenses from
ordinary activities.

Expenses from ordinary activities, including expenses to purchase inventories, are reduced by the
amount of incentives from suppliers, such as discounts, rebates etc. Discounts received are allocated
to the value of the respective purchased inventories and the cost of sales.

Accounting for loans and borrowings

Expenses related to the discharge of obligations under received loans and borrowings are:

* interest on a loan payable to the lender (creditor) under the terms and in the amounts set out
in the loan agreement;

* additional borrowing expenses.

Additional borrowing expenses are:

®  amounts paid for information and consulting services;
*  amounts paid for examination of the loan agreement;
* other expenses directly related to borrowing.

Additional expenses directly related to borrowing are included in other expenses at once.



Interest payable to the lender (creditor) directly related to the acquisition, erection and/or
production of an investment asset is included in the cost of the investment asset evenly irrespective
of payment terms under loan agreements.

Accounting for provisions
The Company accrues the following types of provisions:

o for doubtful debts;

e forimpairment of inventories;

e forimpairment of fixed assets, intangible assets and capital investments in them;
o forimpairment of financial investments.

Provisions are created as follows:

Provision for doubtful debts is created for:

»  doubtful debts of buyers and customers for products, goods, works and services;
e  other doubtful debtors.

A doubtful debt is the Company's accounts receivable that are not repaid within the contractual term
and are not secured by applicable guarantees.

The provision is established on a quarterly basis after verification of settlements with buyers and
customers for products, goods, works, services for each doubtful debt as follows:

. 100% of doubtful debts aged over 90 days are included in the provision;
*  50% of doubtful debts aged from 45 to 90 days (inclusively) are included in the provision;
. no provision is established for doubtful debts aged less than 45 days (inclusively).

Provision for impairment of inventories is established (adjusted) at the end of each month:

e forilliquid inventories, namely inventories (goods) not suitable for use for the intended purpose
due to defects, damages, goods past their expiration dates;

* forinventories with the shelf life of less than 6 months;

* forinventories in stock without movement (sale) within 12 months or longer.

® The provision is established separately by product type and inventory series in the amount of
100% of its value. Impairment of inventories is recognised in expenses in the period in which the
respective impairment provision is established and is reflected according to analytical features that
correspond to the expected disposal of the inventories (sale — account 90 “Cost of sales” or write-
off — account 91 “Other income and expenses”).

Accounting for estimated liabilities
The Company recognises estimated liabilities related to the following:

. Payment of bonuses based on quarterly and annual performance.



e Payment for unused vacations;
e Payment of bonuses to customers;
e  Other estimated liabilities that meet the criteria in clauses 4 and 5 of RAR 8/2010.

Estimated liabilities related to payments to employees include liabilities to pay insurance
contributions and make other related mandatory payments.

Accounting for prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are carried on account 97 “Prepaid Expenses” at actual costs. Prepaid expenses
are written off on a monthly basis by debiting related expense accounts during the period specified
in the respective documents (licenses, contracts, etc.). If it is impossible to determine the period
from the relevant documents, it is determined by a committee whose members are appointed by
the Company's General Director.

Prepaid expenses include:

e  Asadvances made:
- Insurance expenses;
- Advertising.
) As other current assets:
- Certification expenses;
- Permits to employ foreign nationals.

Prepaid expenses are amortised:

* onastraight-line basis, according to the validity term of a license; a copyright agreement or a
contract on the right of access to websites owned by the granting party, or on a straight-line
basis during 5 years — in the cases where the validity term is not set by the
agreement/contract;

° on a straight-line basis, from the commencement of an insurance contract until its expiration.

Prepaid expenses are presented in the balance sheet within other current assets and other non-
Current assets depending on the expected amortisation date.

Accounting for income tax
Income tax expense (benefit) is determined as current income tax plus deferred income tax.

Current income tax is determined based on accounting records. The amount of current income tax
corresponds to the amount of assessed income tax indicated in the income tax return.

Deferred income tax is determined as the overall change in deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities for the period, excluding the results of transactions not included in the accounting profit
(loss).

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised in the reporting period in which taxable temporary differences
arise, and deferred tax assets are recognised in the reporting period in which deductible temporary
differences arise provided that it is probable (i.e. more likely than not) that the Company will receive
taxable profit in subsequent reporting periods.

Provisional income tax expense is the product of the accounting profit and the income tax rate.



INTANGIBLE ASSETS

respectively:

FIXED ASSETS

Investment property
None.

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

in analytical accounting records, permanent differences are broken down b
expenses, temporary differences are broken down b
relate and are recorded separately.

Financial investments as at 31 December 2024, 2023 and 2022:
See Section 3. Notes to the Balance Sheet and Statement of Financial Results in table form.
Information about the existence and movements of financial investments is presented below:

y types of income and
y types of assets and liabilities to which they

Movements in historical cost by major groups of intangible assets and the amount of accumulated
amortisation by major groups of intangible assets as at 31 D

ecember 2024, 2023 and 2022,

The Company's fixed assets as at 31 December 2024, 2023 and 2022:

See Section 1. Notes to the Balance Sheet and Statement of Financial Results in table form.

See Section 2. Notes to the Balance Sheet and Statement of Financial Results in table form.

€ntories for 2024 and 2023:

ged inventories.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

€arrying amount of the Company’s inven
impairment as at 31 December 2024,

Section 4. Notes to the Balance Sheet and
t31 December 2024, 2023 and 2022 the

Accounts receivable as at 31 December 2024, 2023 and 2022:
See Section 5. Notes to the Balance Sheet and Statement of Financial Results in table form

Statement of Financial Results in table form.
re are no inventories with restricted property rights, including

(RUB’000)
rrower Loan term A""”?_'a 't:teres‘t Asat31/12/2024 | Asat31/12/2023 As at 31/12/2022
SC Biosintez 31/12/2026 REf'"a%C';;g TaEE X 504,300 1,140,000 1,530,000
otal 504,300 1,140,000 1,530,000 T
INVENTORIES

tories, balances of inventories with breakdown by actual cost
2023 and 2022 and movements in inventories by types of



Movements in provisions for doubtful receivables:

(RUB’000)
E ~-m Jicators Buyers and customers Advances made
Balance as at 31 December 2022 105,530 1,048
| Tncrease in provisions ) -
fil" Use of provisions - -
["Balance as at 31 December 2023 105,530 1,048
T |ncrease in provisions - -
. Use of provisions - -
[alance as at 31 December 2024 105,530 1,048
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2024, 2023 and 2022:
{RUB'000)
Indicators 31/12/2024 31/12/2023 31/12/2022
| cash on hand N 6
| Cash on bank accounts in RUB 7,050 403,846
Cash on bank accounts in - ' -
oreign currencies
' Deposits (cash equivalents) B -
| Total Balance Sheet line 1250 36,050 403,852
| Balance of cash in the Statement of 36,050 403,852
| Cash Flows (lines 4450, 4500)
eakdown of other receipts and other payments in the Statement of Cash Flows as at 31/12/2024:
{RUB’000)
1 Line
ype — For 2024 For 2023
Cash flows from operating activities
Jther receipts 4119 253,973 46,422
Interest on deposits (for up to 3 months) 41191 7,277 6,501
interest under bank account contracts 41192 20,034 7,652
eturn of cash to the bank account (inaccurate details) 41193 77,081 2,757
eturn of advance payments from the FCS 41194 - 20,928
NSurance coverage payment under Law No. 255-FZ 41195 247 -
~OMpensation under insurance policies 41196 149 323
eturn of security payment 41197 29,228 5,306
mbursement of expenses under agency agreement 41198 118,458 -
Vther 41199 1,499 2,954
her payments 4129 (786,974) (616,798)
vVances to employees for current needs 41291 (32,292) (31,981)
Ustoms payments 41292 (599,485) (487,258)
__Ies and damages paid 41293 (750) (769)
ments to lecturers 41294 E (481)
tate duty 41295 (25) (68)
*Xes (except for personal income tax, value added tax and
OMDorate income ) 41296 (514) (424)
o K services for cash transactions (bank fees) 41297 (4,746) (1,670)




surance services 41298 (41,552) (36,922)
; yment of bonuses to customers 41299 (15,918) (12,423)

o ayments under writs of execution (alimony, overdue loan 412991 (3,578) (2,152)

payments)

" oans to the Company’s employees 412992 (12,639) (9,614)

eturn to customers 412993 (432) (22,383)

- 412994 (75,044) (10,654)

ash flows from financing activities

“other payments 4329 (112,870) (80,749)

payments 43291 (112,870) (80,749)

Cash equivalents are represented by bank deposits with maturities
~ Russian roubles at the following rates:

~ -asat 31 December 2022: deposits were not placed;
-as at 31 December 2023: 13 %;

-as at 31 December 2024: deposits were not placed.

sentation of value-added tax in the Statement of Cash Flows.

OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Other current assets as at 31 December 2024, 2023 and 2022:

To present VAT in the Statement of Cash Flows on a net basis, the direct method is used.

of less than three months in

(RUB’000)
ndicators 31/12/2024 31/12/2023 31/12/2022
repaid expenses 3,450 3,723 3,294
Other - 3 21
| Total 3,450 3,726 3,315
AUTHORIZED CAPITAL
The Company's authorized capital as at 31 December 2024, 2023 and 2022:
Par value 2024 2023 2022
Share category i i
RUB Quantity, | cuBoop | Quantity, RUB ‘000 | Quantity, pcs | RUB ‘000
pcs pcs
dinary, fully paid 1,000 163,000 163,000 163,000 163,000 163,000 163,000
otal 163,000 163,000 163,000 163,000 163,000 163,000
The shareholding structure as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:
(RUB’000)
Shareholder Ownership interest
2024 2024
INPHARMA (NETHERLANDS) B.V., 99 99
anbaxy Holdings (UK) Limited 1 1
tal 100 100




ADDITIONAL CAPITAL

Capital category

)

2024

2023

2022

RUB ‘000

RUB ‘000

RUB ‘000

~ontribution to the property from SUN PHARMA (NETHERLANDS)
V. Agreement w/o No. dated 23 December 2024

270,000

12 CREDITS AND LOANS

or 2024

As at 31 December 2024, the contribution to the property was not paid.

Information about the Company’s credits and loans and their movement is as follows:

(RUB’000)

Balance at

Changes over the period

) the
beginning
of the year

Narrative Addition

Accrual of %

Principal
repayment

of %

Repayment

Reclassification
from long-term
to short-term
debts

Exchange
difference

Balance
at the
end of

the
period

(Long-term
Orrowings - = =
total

-)

(-

)

Credits = .

Interest on
credits

Loans = 5

~Interest on
loans

hort-term
borrowings -
total

1,238,836 1,102,035

131,117

(2,140,871)

(130,363) e

200,754

Credits 1,238,836 1,102,035

(2,140,871)

(_

) =

200,000

Interest on - -
credits

131,117

(-)

(130,363)

754

Loans

Interest on - -
loans

(-)
(-)

(_
(_

) -
)

or 2023

RUB’000)

Balance

Changes over the period

at the
beginning

of the

year

Narrative Addition

Accrual of
%

Principal
repayment

Repayment
of %

Reclassification
from long-term
to short-term
debts

Exchange
difference

Balance

at the end

of the
period

Long-term
borrowings - - -
oal

()

Credits - -

Interest on
Credits

Loans - -

Interest on
loans

IE hort-term

f;;rlowings - - 3,438,836

126,352

(2,200,000)

(126,352)

1,238,836

Credits - 3,438,836

126,352

(2,200,000)

(126,352)

1,238,836

Interest on - -
Credits

(-)

Loans - 5

Interest on - -
loans

(-)
()




‘main credits and loans

ual interest rate under loan agreements with Sberbank No. 380D00CXL dated 10 February 2023 and No. 380D00GZ2
dated 20 April 2023:

4 om 20 February 2023 to 25 October 2023: CB rate + 1.5

om 26 October 2023 to 29 October 2023: CB rate + 1.8

from 30 October 2023 to 31 December 2023: CB rate + 2.0

from 01 January 2024 to 31 December 2024: CB rate + 2.0

As at 31 December 2024 As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2022
Principal | interest Total Principal | Interest Total Principal | Interest | Total

. Narrative Maturity

W ings - total

3y main lenders
d agreements

"By main lenders - - -
d agreements
t-term

wings - total

200,000 754| 200,754 1,238,836 -| 1,238,836 . ; )
200,000 754| 200,754| 1,238,836 -| 1,238,836 -

b .rbank
reement No.
CXL dated 10 | 26/01/2025| 102,034 385| 102,419 794,154

-| 794,154 - -
bruary 2023

erbank, loan
gement No.
80D00GZ2 dated |26/01/2025 97,966 369 98,335| 444,682

-| 444882 - y
\pril 2023

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Accounts payable as at 31 December 2024, 2023 and 2022:
See Section 5. Notes to the Balance Sheet and Statement of Financial Results in table form.

ESTIMATED LIABILITIES

Movements in estimated liabilities for 2024 and 2023: See Section 7. Notes to the Balance Sheet and
Statement of Financial Results in table form.

REVENUE

Revenue by ordinary activities for 2024 and 2023:

(RUB’000)

Indicators 2024 2023
| Revenue from sales of goods 12,193,583 10,540,504
Financial discount (customer bonus) (716,913) (383,386)
| Total 11,476,670 10,157,118




16. COST OF SALES

Cost of sales by ordinary activities for 2024 and 2023:

(RUB’000
2024 2023
Cost of sales of goods 8,137,857 6,861,859
[Financial discount {supplier bonus) (862,993) (608,937)
7,274,864 6,252,922
Costs, by cost elements, for 2024 and 2023:
~ See Section 6. Notes to the Balance Sheet and Statement of Financial Results in table form.
'17. SELLING EXPENSES
Selling expenses, by cost elements, for 2024 and 2023:
- (RUB’000)
i 2023
| Payroll 1,026,901 904,305
| Allocations to funds 283,218 240,731
| Advertising 891,359 903,751
| - Marketing 1,703,962 1,223,927
"! Processing of goods 90,315 64,431
| Certification 7,384 3,535
i
b Maintenance and repair of motor vehicles 35,568 28,445
| Insurance 44,908 36,335
| Lease 15,943 19,239
_: Depreciation 109,302, 79,694
| Travel expenses 73,446 60,450
T -
|__-Hospxta11ty expenses 2,836 2,032
| Audit 2,539 1,935
| Software products 26,714 27,462
| Other material costs 15,985 18,150
| Provision for vacation pay 74,557 69,797
| Provision for bonus payment 83,604 67,927
Other expenses 110,120 91,919
_I otal expenses: 4,598,660 3,844,066
8. OTHER INCOME
Other income for 2024 and 2023:
E (RUB’000)
Income 2024 2023
Sonuses from suppliers (prior periods) 68,608 97,960
_Adjustments of customs duties 5,320 15,314
€turn of goods from customers for the previous tax period 3,598 2,487
—ISurance indemnity / expenses for insured events 149 388
Sales and write-offs of fixed assets 4,349 1,205
Other 3,108 984
Provision for impairment and returned goods 12,779 =
L&ency remuneration 7,300 -
_lota] 105,211 118,338




9. OTHER EXPENSES

1
Other expenses for 2024 and 2023:
(RUB’000)
— Expense 2024
mnses) related to sale (purchase) of foreign currency 42,051 5
Provision for impairment of inventory = 34,437
provision for returned goods e 981
" Destruction of pharmaceutical products 1,466 1,111
Write-off of accounts receivable / payable 6 260
Sales and write-offs of fixed assets 999 379
| Bank services 5,365 7,772
- Administrative fine 3,431 =
Wents of customs duties 13,068 16,556
Return of goods from customers for the previous tax period 4,640 3,381
| Agency remuneration (VAT) 1,217 =
| Leased fixed assets 10,198 -
: Other 2,641 3,425
| Total 85,082 68,307
20. INCOME TAX
The relation between income tax expenses for 2024 and 2023 and profit before tax:
(RUB’000)
Indicators 2024 2023
Profit before tax (402,793) 85,357
including:
Profit taxable at 20% (402,793) 85,357
| Provisional income tax benefit (expense) 80,558 (17,071)
Permanent tax expenses: (91,562) (61,047)
non-deductible expenses (44,074) (6,020)
limited expenses (47,488) (55,027)
Income tax expense (benefit) 91,562 (78,118)
&hrred income tax (158,586) (54,131)
| Including due to changes in taxation rules, in applicable tax rates (69,061) -
| Income tax (67,024) (132,249)
Deferred income tax as a result of origination and reversal of temporary differences:
(RUB’000)
Indicators 2024 2023
Increase / (decrease) in deferred tax assets:
fixed assets (292) 324
estimated liabilities 137,103 68,270
1A (5) 64
| Lease liabilities 28,610 28,810
L Goods 14,777 (7,220)
|____ Prepaid expenses 24,685 -
: Total 204,879 90,248
' (lncrease) / decrease in deferred tax liabilities:
fixed assets (25,958) (24,246)
1A (785) =
Interest on liabilities (1,476) (3,560)
Goods (4,917) (8,311)
Deferred income (13,158) -




j‘otal

(46,294)

(36,117)

peferred income tax benefit /{expense}

158,586

54,131

income tax rate is 25%, deferred taxes are recalculated.

LEASE

Company as the lessee

1. Leased premises (warehouse lease and office lease);
2. Vehicles (company’s cars).

The Company's leases are mainly leases of the following:

The income tax rate in 2024 and 2023 was 20%, taxation rules were not changed. Since 2025, the

Reconciliation of balances of the right-of-use asset by groups with breakdown by historical cost,
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment and its movements:

e

(RUB’000)
Indicators for 2023 p::::ies :s erz‘;Z':s Total
| Useful life, years 1-5 4 -
i Historical cost
| As at 31 December 2022 29,760 89,307 119,067
| Restatement due to the automation of RFAS 25/2018 {20,786) {31,900) (52,686)
| Addition 86,281 105,469 191,749
| Disposal (8,974) (16,154) (25,128)
| Value revision - 588 588
As at 31 December 2023 86,281 147,309 233,590
Accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
| As at 31 December 2022 20,786 31,900 52,686
| Restatement due to the automation of RFAS 25/2018 (20,786) {31,900) (52,686)
Depreciation 24,023 47,298 71,322
| Disposal (8,559) (15,082) (23,641)
| As at 31 December 2023 15,464 32,216 47,680
Including accumulated impairment - - -
Carrying amount
i As at 31 December 2022 8,974 57,407 66,381
As at 31 December 2023 70,817 115,092 185,909
Indicators for 2024 tease i Movable Total
premises property
Useful life, years 2 4 -
Historical cost
As at 31 December 2023 86,281 147,309 233,590
Restatement due to the automation of RFAS 25/2018 - - -
_ Addition 60,822 168,635 229,458
Disposal (86,281) {37,090) {123,371)
Value revision - (85) (85}
As at 31 December 2024 60,823 278,770 339,592
Accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
As at 31 December 2023 15,464 32,216 47,680
| Restatement due to the automation of RFAS 25/2018 - 5 -
| Depreciation 29,369 71,390 100,759
| Disposal (29,627) (31,487) (61,114)
| Asat 31 December 2024 15,206 72,119 87,325
LIncluding accumulated impairment - g -
1 Carrying amount
| As at 31 December 2023 70,817 115,092 185,909
LAs at 31 December 2024 45,617 206,651 252,267




Movements in the lease liability:

{RUB’000)
. o th_e Disposal Lease Value At the
| beginning Interest . .
 ndicators afthe Added S payments revision/adjustment end of
—— made the
period
2023 71,681 191,749 13,223 2,686 80,749 588 192,630
2024 192,630 229,458 24,832 62,256 112,870 (85) 262,643
Maturities of the lease liability as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023:
RUB’000)
[ indicators 2024 2023
Upto 1year 129,536 19,279
From 1to 2 years 19,098 16,280
From 2 to 3 years 111,865 90,395
| From 3 to 4 years 41,751 96,187
i From 4 to 5 years - =
| Over 5 years - -
| Total 302,249 222,141
| Discounting effect (39,606) (29,511)
| Total lease liability 262,643 192,630
f including:
| Long-term 148,746 174,214
Short-term 113,897 18,416

As at 31 December 2024 the Company’s lease contracts did not provide for any restrictions and there
were no right-of-use assets pledged under loan contracts.
|

Leased fixed assets are recognised on an off-balance account.

'22. RELATED PARTIES
The related parties of JSC RANBAXY:

° Immediate shareholders:
- SUN PHARMA (NETHERLANDS) B.V. (Private limited liability company) (99% interest);
- Ranbaxy Holdings (UK) Ltd. (1% interest);

° Parent company of the group to which the Company belongs: Sun Pharmaceutical Industries
Ltd.

e Companies under common control: Companies under control or significant influence of the
Company’s controlling beneficial owner:

BIOSINTEZ PJSC
SC TERAPIA SA (Romania)
Representative office of Sun Pharmaceutical Industries Limited

The full list of related parties as at 31 March 2024 is presented in the consolidated financial
statements of the group at the company’s website:

https://sunpharma.com/investors-annual-reports-presentations/




° Key management personnel of JSC RANBAXY.

e  The controlling beneficial owner of the Company is Dilip Shantilal Shanghvi, who is the head
of the parent company of SUN PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRIES LIMITED
and owns more than 25% of shares of the said company.

Transactions and balances by groups of related parties

Transactions with related parties during the reporting period:

group of companies

Related parties

SUN
PHARMACEUTICAL
INDUSTRIES LTD

| (India)

SUN
PHARMACEUTICAL
| INDUSTRIES LTD

| (India)

| Sun Pharma

| (Netherlands) B.v.
| Private limited
iability company

| SCTERAPIA SA
| (Romania)

| SCTERAPIA SA
{Romania)

Representative office
of Sun

| Pharmaceutical
Industries Limited

Representative office
of Sun

Pharmaceutical
INdustries Limited

PISC Biosintez

(RUB’000)
Applicd prisii Volume of Volume of
. Type of methods for each R i
Type of relation . type of transactions | transactions
i in 2024 in 2023
transactions
Oﬂli:e l::e?rf)amrtzu(: According to the
P U A Purchase of goods | agreement (market 7,401,742 5,529,652
Pharmaceutical Industries .
price)
group)
Otzzrrr:efr:e?‘rian:tzu(s EompEmEatianiar According to the
o "7 | discount given to : 810,698 706,897
Pharmaceutical Industries agreement
the buyer
group)
Key shareholder (99% Contribution to According to the
270,000 -
shares) the property agreement
Otf;irn:e ?;e(:rzi:glfi According to the
p_ L A Purchase of goods | agreement (market 32,803 1,731,239
Pharmaceutical Industries :
price)
group)
Other related party (a
company from Sun Payment for According to the 10,500
Pharmaceutical Industries marking of goods agreement !
group)
Other related party (a
comQa ny from S-un Agency According to the 1,687 1,687
Pharmaceutical Industries agreement agreement
group)
Other related party (a
company from Sun Sublease According to the 482 241
Pharmaceutical Industries agreement agreement
group)
Other related party (a
t
company from Sun e s Repayment of the 635,200 390,000

Pharmaceutical Industries
group)

issued loan

_




pySC Biosintez

i

)SC Biosintez

Other related party (a | Accrual of interest
company from Sun under the short- According to the
10
Pharmaceutical Industries term loan agreement U 108,685
group) agreement
Other related party (a Under contracts
company from Sun for the sale of According to the
. : N 217
Pharmaceutical Industries goods, works, agreement
group) services
|
Otti;e:;eirz?zé: Gaods sale:and According to the
9 W ) purchase g 496,725 168,239
Pharmaceutical Industries agreement
agreement
group)
Other related party (a
company from Sun Turnover According to the
. . : 120,903 -
Pharmaceutical Industries premium agreement
group)
Ottirn:e?r:eirzar“r:t\s/u(z Agreement (for According to the
e , contract 8 12,851 16,566
Pharmaceutical industries . agreement
manufacturing)
group)

Accounts receivable from and payable to related parties of the Company as at 31 December 2023:

(RUB’000)
Amount of accounts Amount of accounts
Related party Type of relation receivable (payable), | receivable (payable),
As at 31/12/2024 As at 31/12/2023
Other related party (parent
SUN PHARM CALIND RIES
(TD (IrI\—{dAi‘a) RCEChl UsT company of Sun Pharmaceutical (7,691,337) (3,120,671)
Industries group)
Sun Ph V.
! af”‘.‘"‘ (Ne‘thgr'lands) . Key shareholder (99% shares) 270,000 -
Private limited liability company
Other related party {a company
SCTERAPIA SA (Romania) from Sun Pharmaceutical Industries (5,000) (1,729,166)
group)
Other related party {(a company
PJSC Biosintez from Sun Pharmaceutical Industries (124,399) (23,576)
group)
2 - Other related party (a company
| PiscB
|95|ntez (loans granted and from Sun Pharmaceutical Industries 522,597 1,174,366
related interest) I




Cash flows with related parties:

e

e

(RUB’000)
2 X T f relation Type of Amount in Amount in
Related parties ype o transactions 2024 2023
Other related party (parent
SUN PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRIES company of S.un Payment of 2,065,850 6,600,568
LTD {India) Pharmaceutical Industries goods
group)
Other related party (a
: company from Sun Payment of
1,74
SC TERAPIA SA (Romania) Pharmaceutical Industries goods /746,468 S
group)
Other related party (a
| Representative office of Sun company from Sun | Payment under 1687 1687
| pharmaceutical Industries Limited Pharmaceutical Industries agreements ! !
group)
3 Other related party (a
| Representative office of Sun company from Sun Payment under ) (241)
Pharmaceutical Industries Limited Pharmaceutical Industries agreements
group)
] Ottz;z’::sirzxt;ﬁ Goods sale and
josi h 274,999 148,367
g °osintez Pharmaceutical Industries purchase ! 483
agreement
group)
o i | et o
PISC Biosintez pany \ contract 12,851 16,548
Pharmaceutical Industries .
manufacturing)
group)
Other related party (a
. company from Sun Repayment of
635,200 390,000
i 0cinte: Pharmaceutical Industries the issued loan 635,200} (39 )
group)
Other related party (a Payment of
| .. . company from Sun interest under
\ . 119,141 0,190
Qe iOsinte Pharmaceutical Industries the loan (25,2581 F0.150)
group) agreement
d
Other related party (a Faymentander
| company from Sun COMITALE fe
PISC Biosintez ; . the sale of - (217)
Pharmaceutical Industries
goods, works,
group) .
services

Form of settlements with related parties — monetary (cash transfer).




Information about remuneration to key management personnel

In 2024 and 2023 the Company’s key management personnel comprised:
Director of the Department

Head of the Commercial Department

General Director

Field Force Effectiveness and Analytics Manager
Head of Pharmacy Division

Head of Commercial Sales

Head of the Legal Division

Head of the Medical Division

Chief Accountant

. National Sales Manager

. Head of Distributors Division

. Head of Proposals

. Head of the Commercial Department

. Head of the Trade Marketing Division

. Marketing Director

. Head of the Regulatory Division

. Director for Government Affairs and EAU Procedures
. HR Director

. National Sales Manager

SRS T T RO

Total remuneration for 2024 paid to key management personnel amounted to RUB 165,698
thousand (2023: RUB 160,398 thousand). All payments were of short-term nature.

Information about members of the Company’s executive and supervisory bodies

Members of the Board of Directors in 2024:

Position Period

from 03/02/2022, as well as elected as

| Sergey Lepetan Chairman of the Board of Directors the Chairman of the Board of Directors

i from 30/06/ 2023

' Rakesh Sinha Member of the Board of Directors from 28/06/2022

| Viswanathan Sethuraman Member of the Board of Directors from 28/06/2022
Yulia Khivantseva Member of the Board of Directors from 28/06/2022

| Artur Valiev Member of the Board of Directors from 28/06/2022

In 2023 and 2024, no remuneration was paid to the Board of Directors.

EXCHANGE RATES AND EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES

Exchange rates of the Central Bank of Russia in effect on the date of the financial statements are as
follows:

(RUB’000)
31 December 2024 31 December 2023 31 December 2022
101.6797 89.6883 70.3375

106.1028 99.1919 75.6553




(RUB’000)

“Indicators

2024 2023
change differences arising on the translation of assets and liabilities denominated ) )
reign currencies and payable in foreign currencies
ange differen_ces arising on the transiation of assets and liabilities denominated (32,683) ()
reign currencies and payable in roubles
(32,683) ()
BASIC EARNINGS
Basic and diluted earnings for 2023 and 2022;
2024 2023
—T (311,229,948) 7,239,835
e weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, pcs 163,000 163,000
3asic earnings per one share, RUB (1,909) a4
Diluted earnings (loss) per share, RUB (1,909) 44

GUARANTEES AND SURETYSHIPS RECEIVED

Guarantees and suretyships received by the Company as at 31 December 2024:

{RUB)

Buyer Debt Security

Guarantor / Surety

“InterLek 00O 116,034,517.38 95,000,000.00

ALFA-BANK AO

Grand Capital FC 000 992,606,566.82 600,000,000.00

BANK SAINT PETERSBURG PAO

atren NPK AO

563,207,976.33 1,500,000,000.00

i

KATREN AO

GDP 000 9,907,309.82 10,000,000.00

Sberbank of Russia PAO

| BSS 000 63,629,276.77 50,000,000.00

Sberbank of Russia PAQ

Vita Line 000

159,524,227.85 | 120,000,000.00

Sberbank of Russia PAO

'dravservis 000

648,866.55 5,000,000.00

RaiffeisenBank OAO

A groresursy 000

100,620,908.11 50,000,000.00

Sberbank of Russia PAO

Farmkomplekt 000 212,784,268.45 520,000,000.00

Sberbank of Russia PAO

NEO-PHARM 00O

34,965,159.25 40,000,000.00

Sberbank of Russia PAO

Protek Tsv ZA0

2,041,451,626.33

2,065,000,000.00

Sberbank of Russia PAO

Farmiend A0

15,222,709.95

50,000,000.00

Sberbank of Russia PAQ

“Ulse FC 000

1,778,781,528.31

1,500,000,000.00

Sberbank of Russia PAQ

Famperspektiva JSC

410,234,905.23

200,000,000

RaiffeisenBank 0OAQ

otal

6,499,619,847.15

6,805,000,000.00




26. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

In February 2025, cash was received in the amount of RUB 270,000 thousand, contribution to
property from Sun Pharma (Netherlands) B.V. Private limited liability company.

27. GENERAL INFORMATION ON POTENTIAL MATERIAL RISKS OF BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

~ The economy of the Russian Federation displays certain characteristics of an emerging market. The
country’s economy is particularly sensitive to oil and gas prices. The legal, tax and reguiatory frameworks
~ continue to develop and are subject to frequent changes and varying interpretations. The Russian
economy continues to be negatively impacted by ongoing geopolitical tension as well as sanctions
imposed by some countries against certain Russian economy sectors, Russian companies and individuals.

- significant geopolitical tension remains in 2024 which has been under way from February 2022 as a result
of further developments related to Ukraine. Sanctions and restrictions have been and continue to be
imposed on many Russian companies, including cutting off the access to the EUR and USD markets,
international SWIFT system and many others. A number of transnational groups have suspended or
'ceased their business activities in the Russian Federation. In December 2022, the EU and a number of
countries outside the EU introduced a price ceiling on the Russian oil deliveries. The price ceiling was set
at USD 60 per barrel and is subject to subsequent review on a regular basis. In addition, in December
2022, the EU imposed the embargo on the Russian oil deliveries by sea. In February 2023, the price ceiling
on the Russian gas deliveries was introduced as well as the embargo on the Russian oil products. Despite
the recovery in trading volumes, financial and commodity markets continue to show volatility.

In 2024, the foreign exchange rates against the Russian rouble have increased significantly compared to
the rates in effect as at 31 December 2023. During 2024, the Bank of Russia raised its key rate from 16%
t021%. It is impossible to assess further sanctions and restrictions on foreign business activities of Russian
companies, as well as further negative consequences for the Russian economy as a whole, and the full
xtent and scale of possible consequences. It is impossible to determine how long this increased volatility
ill last or at what level the above financial indicators will eventually stabilise.

he future effects of the current economic situation and the above measures are difficult to predict and
anagement’s current expectations and estimates could differ from actual results.

he Company's activities are subject to various types of risks (financial, legal, country and regional,
eputational, etc.) to a greater or lesser extent.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

€ confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief concerning the situation on the pharmaceutical
arket of the Russian Federation, the ongoing special military operation in Ukraine and sanctions
Posed by foreign countries, as adjusted for potential external impact on the Company’s business
scribed in clause 27, all of the above do not cast significant doubt on our ability to continue as a going
ncern for at least 12 months after the reporting date and should not cause significant changes in the
frying amount or changes in classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements.

General Director

Artur Valiev

28 March 2025
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GENERAL

Joint-Stock Company RANBAXY (hereinafter — JSC RANBAXY, the Company) was established in 2004

(state registration certificate No. 1047796353846 dated 20 May 2004). The abbreviated name of the
Company is JSC RANBAXY.

Registered and actual address: 27 Elektrozavodskaya ul., bldg. 8, room 14/1, Moscow, 107023,
Russia.

The Company has no branches or representative offices.
The Company has the following autonomous subdivisions:

* On 19 December 2008, a standalone subdivision "Warehouse for wholesaling medicinal
products” was established and registered at its location (address: 2, let. B, B2 Dachnaya
Street, Village of Davydovskoye, Luchinskoye Rural Settlement, Istra District, Moscow
Region, 143521, Russian Federation) with the Inspectorate of the Federal Tax Service of
Russia for the town of Istra, Moscow Region.

e On 02 April 2019 the location of the subdivision was changed (new address: Room Vil, No.
63, 73, 86, 89, 90, 91, 92, 1 floor, bldg 16B, Block 0060339, Village of Davydovskoye, Istra
District, Moscow Region, 143521, Russian Federation).

® On17June 2024 the location of the subdivision was changed (new address: bldg 4, plot 248,
Village of Leshkovo, Istra District, Moscow Region, 143581, Russian Federation).

The main business activity of JSC RANBAXY is wholesaling of pharmaceutical products.

~ The Company operates under the following licences:

No. | Type of activity Licence number Issued by 2::121: Expiration
. Federal Service for Foran
1 E harmaceutical FS-99-02-007542 Supervision of 28/11/2019 | unlimited
usiness
Healthcare ferm

The Company's business activities are subject to Russian laws.

The headcount of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 was 531 and 553 people,
respectively.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The Company's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and
Féporting rules that are effective in the Russian Federation.

The accounting function is organised at the Company as required by the Russian accounting
legislation, regulations of the Russian Ministry of Finance and other agencies authorised by the
federal laws to regulate accounting principles and practice.

In 2024, accounting records were maintained in the manner envisaged by the Company's accounting

Policies approved as per the General Director's Order dated 29 December 2023 No. 01-¥1-2023 and
01 May 2024 No. 01-YM-2023/1.



Financial and tax accounting records were maintained using 1C: Industrial Enterprise Management,
specialised accounting software and ERP Enterprise Management 2.

Going concern assumption

The financial statements have been prepared by the Company's management assuming that the
company will continue its business in the foreseeable future, does not intend or need to be
liquidated or significantly reduce its operations and, therefore, will duly discharge its obligations.

Chart of accounts

The Company has developed and applied an operating chart of accounts based on the standard chart
of accounts for financial and economic activities of entities as approved by Order No. 94n of the
Russian Ministry of Finance dated 31 October 2000, using certain subaccounts, which enable
preparation of financial statements that comply with Russian accounting and tax legislation, and
separate cost accounting requirements.

Stocktaking

The terms and procedure for stocktaking are defined by the head of the entity, with the exception
of mandatory stocktaking. Stocktaking of fixed assets is carried out once a year.

Stocktaking of all other assets and liabilities was carried out as at 31 December 2024, except for
stocktaking of inventories, which was carried out as at 28 December 2024.

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies

When accounting for business transactions in foreign currencies, the Company uses the Central Bank
of Russia’s (the “CBR”) official exchange rates of the Russian rouble (“RUB”) against such currencies
as at the transaction dates. Assets and liabilities with the value denominated in foreign currencies
are disclosed in the financial statements in the amounts calculated on the basis of the official rouble
exchange rate set by the CBR as at 31 December 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Accounting for assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies is subject to RAR 3/2006.
Under RAR 3/2006, assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies should be translated into
roubles as at:

L the date of their recognition;
*  thelast day of the month, the reporting date and the transaction date;
® the date of the asset (liability) settlement.

Foreign currency gains and losses are presented in the statement of financial results on a net basis
as part of other income or other expenses.

Current and non-current assets and liabilities

Assets classified in the financial statements as current are expected to be used in the Company’s
production and other activities within 12 months after the reporting date or mature within 12
months after the reporting date. Liabilities classified in the financial statements as current are
expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting date. All other assets and liabilities are
presented as non-current.



Accounting for fixed assets

The historical cost of fixed assets is the total amount of capital investments associated with them,
which comprises actual costs of acquisition, creation, improvement and/or reconstruction of the
fixed assets less any refundable taxes and levies taking into account all discounts, rebates,
deductions, bonuses and benefits provided to the Company by suppliers, contractors or sellers in
any form.

Assets that have the characteristics of fixed assets but cost less than RUB 100 thousand are
recognised as expenses of the period when related acquisition or creation costs were incurred.

Fixed assets are accounted for by items. If one item of fixed assets has several components with the
values and useful lives substantially different from the value and useful life of the item on the whole,
each component is recognised as a separate item. In particular, the Company’s significant costs that
exceed RUB 500 thousand and are incurred to perform repairs, technical inspection or technical
maintenance of fixed assets less frequently than once in 12 months are recognised as separate items.

Subsequent to recognition, the Company’s fixed assets, other than investment property, are
measured at historical cost and reported in the balance sheet at carrying amount, i.e. their historical
cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment.

Fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis starting from the date of their recognition,
except when consumer properties of fixed assets change over time. The depreciation method is
determined for each group of fixed assets so that it most accurately reflects the timing of the
expected future economic benefits from the use of the group of fixed assets.

The useful life, the residual value and the depreciation method (depreciation elements) of fixed
assets are determined when the assets are recognised. The depreciation elements of fixed assets
are checked for compliance with the conditions for the use of these fixed assets at the end of each
reporting year, and in case of circumstances indicating a possible change in the depreciation
elements.

The useful lives of fixed assets (in months) used for depreciation accrual purposes:

Office equipment 35 months
Vehicles 60 months
Other fixed assets 37 months
Machinery and equipment (excluding office equipment) 61 months
Production and maintenance tools 61 months

The historical cost of fixed assets is increased by the amount of capital investments related to their
improvement and/or reconstruction when such capital investments are completed.

The Company tests fixed assets and capital investments in them for impairment and recognises
changes in their carrying amount as a result of impairment as required by IAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

Fixed assets that are disposed of or unable to bring future economic benefits to the Company are
derecognised.



Accounting for intangible assets

starting from 2024, the Company applies RFAS 14/2022 to its financial statements, does not restate
comparative figures for the periods prior to the reporting period and makes a one-off adjustment of
the carrying amount of intangible assets.

The effect of the change in the accounting policies due to the first-time adoption of RFAS 14/2022 is
reported prospectively.

Measurement

when recognised in accounting records, an intangible asset is measured at cost. The cost of an
intangible asset is the total amount of capital investments related to this asset made before the
intangible asset is recognised in the accounting records.

RFAS 14/2022 does not apply to assets that both have the attributes set out in clause 4 of REAS
14/2022 and have a cost less than RUB 100,000 per item. The costs of acquisition and/or creation of
such assets are recognised as expenses for the period in which capital investments related to
acquisition and/or creation of such assets are completed.

Intangible assets are recognised at actual (historical) cost determined as at the recognition date:

° acquired for consideration — in the amount of actual acquisition expenses and additional
expenses incurred to make them suitable for intended use less value-added tax and other
refundable taxes (unless otherwise stipulated in the legislation of the Russian Federation);

. created by the Company — in the amount of actual creation expenses;
. received under a gift agreement (free of charge) — at market value as at the recognition date;

° received under agreements providing for the fulfilment of obligations (payment) by non-
monetary assets — at the value of assets transferred or to be transferred by the Company.

The useful life is determined when assets are recognised based on:

e thevalidity period of the Company’s rights to intellectual property or means of individualisation
(including the term of the patent, certificate, licence (copyright) agreement for transferred
exclusive rights);

e an expected period of using the asset during which the Company intends to gain economic
benefits as determined by the competent structural subdivision.

Intangible assets are accounted for by items.

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis based on the historical cost of the intangible
assets and the amortisation rate calculated based on their useful lives.

Amortisation is accrued until the asset is fully amortised or derecognised.

The monthly amortisation charge is calculated as follows:

On a straight-line basis as the difference between the carrying and the residual values of the
intangible asset divided by the remaining useful life of the asset.

The residual value of an intangible asset is considered to be zero, except for the cases specified in
clause 36 of RFAS 14/2022.

The useful life, the residual value and the amortisation method (amortisation elements) of intangible
asset are determined when the intangible asset is recognised.

An intangible asset’s amortisation elements are to be reviewed for compliance with the intangible
asset’s use conditions. These reviews are carried out at the end of each reporting year, and in case
of circumstances indicating a possible change in the amortisation elements. Based on the results of
such reviews, if necessary, the entity decides to change the relevant amortisation elements. The
resulting adjustments are recorded as changes in estimates.



On the balance sheet, intangible assets are recognised less accrued amortisation.

Jmpairment

The Company tests the intangible assets for impairment and recognises a change in its carrying
amount as a result of impairment as required by IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

An impairment loss of the intangible asset in excess of the residual value of the asset over its
recoverable amount is recognised as expenses from ordinary activities of the Company.

The recoverable amount is determined as the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal. Value in use is calculated by discounting the amount of revenue associated with the
economic benefits derived from the use of the intangible asset. If the recoverable amount of the
intangible asset increases, its cost is adjusted for amortisation accumulated to the date of the
adjustment up to an amount not exceeding the residual value that would have been determined had
the intangible asset not been impaired.

Intangible assets are not revalued.
Accounting for financial investments

The historical cost of financial investments acquired for consideration is actual acquisition costs less
value-added tax and other refundable taxes (unless otherwise stipulated in the tax legislation of the
Russian Federation).

As at 31 December of each reporting year and if there are indications that financial investments may
be impaired, assets with undeterminable market value are tested for impairment and, if necessary,
a provision for impairment of financial investments is accrued in accordance with RAR 19/02. The
provision is established only if the testing identifies a steady significant decrease in the value of
financial investments.

Accounting for inventories

The actual cost of inventories, other than work in progress and finished goods, comprises actual
costs incurred to acquire (create) the inventories, make them ready for, and delivery to the place of,
consumption, sale or use, less value-added tax and other refundable taxes and incentives received
from suppliers in any form (e.g. discounts, rebates etc.).

When shipped to customers and written off, inventories are measured using the FIFO method.
Non-current assets for sale

Non-current assets for sale are measured at the carrying amount of the respective fixed asset or
another nonlcurrent asset when it is reclassified to non-current assets for sale. Subsequent

measurement of non-current assets for sale is the same as subsequent measurement of inventories.

Accounting for cash and cash equivalents

Highly liquid financial investments with maturities of no more than three months, which are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
are reflected in the balance sheet within cash and cash equivalents.

Accounting for leases
Accounting by the lessee
The Company recognises an underlying asset as at the date on which it is made available for use as

a right-of-use asset and at the same time recognises a lease liability for all leases, except for leases
with the term up to 12 months as at the date on which the underlying asset is made available for



yse, and leases with the market value of the underlying asset without depreciation of no more than
RUB 300 thousand. For such leases, lease payments are expensed on a straight-line basis over the
lease term or using another systematic approach that reflects the pattern in which the lessee
consumes economic benefits from use of the underlying asset.

A lease liability is initially measured as the present value of future lease payments. in most cases,
discounting is based on the rate that the Company uses or would have to use to borrow over a similar
term as it is impossible to determine the rate that causes the present value of the future lease
payments and the unguaranteed residual value of the underlying asset to equal the fair value of the
underlying asset.

Subsequently, the lease liability is increased by the amount of accrued interest and decreased by the
amount of lease payments actually made.

The right-of-use asset is recognised at actual cost, which comprises a) the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability, b) lease payments made at or before the date on which an
underlying asset is made available for use, c) costs incurred by the Company with respect to the
addition of the underlying asset and making it ready to be used for intended purposes, and d) an
estimated liability (in dismantling, restoring the environment etc.) if the liability is incurred as a result
of the receipt of the underlying asset.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis.
The right-of-use asset is reported within fixed assets.

In the statement of cash flows, lease payments are reported within cash flows from financing
activities.

The actual cost of the right-of-use asset and the amount of the lease liability are revised if:

* thereisany change in the lease terms and conditions;

* there is any change in the intention to extend or shorten the lease term that was earlier
considered in calculating the lease term;

* thereis any change in the amount of lease payments compared to how they were recognised
at the initial measurement of the lease liability.

In the above cases, the change in the amount of the lease liability determined using the revised
discount rate is charged to the value of the right-of-use asset.

Accounting for income
Revenue from ordinary activities is recognised for accounting purposes if:

®*  The Company has the right to receive the revenue that arises from a contractual arrangement
or is otherwise appropriately ensured.

*  The amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

®  There is certainty that economic benefits will flow to the Company as a result of a particular
transaction. There is certainty that economic benefits will flow to the Company as a result of a
particular transaction when in the future the Company will receive an asset as settlement or
there is no uncertainty regarding the receipt of the asset.



e The legal title (right of ownership, use and disposal) for the products (goods) has been
transferred from the Company to the buyer or work has been accepted by the buyer (a service
has been rendered).

o Expensesthat have been or will be incurred in connection with the transaction are measurable.

Revenue is determined considering all discounts (return of cash, free-of-charge provision of goods,
rebates and other incentives) provided to buyers (customers) under contracts. If the contract
provides for a discount to the buyer (customer) for the observance of certain contractual conditions,
revenue under such contract is recognised less the discount provided for by the contract.

Income other than income from ordinary activities is classified as other receipts and reflected within
other income.

Accounting for expenses

Expenses are recogmsed regardless of whether there is an intention to generate revenue or other
income and the form of expenses.

Expenses are recognised when incurred regardless of the time of actual payment of cash and other
type of settlement.

Expenses from ordinary activities comprise:

e  expensesassociated with purchasing raw materials, consumables, goods and other inventories;

3 expenses incurred during processing (improvement) of inventories to manufacture products,
perform works and provide services;
e  selling expenses.

Selling expenses are fully recognised in the reporting period of their recognition as expenses from
ordinary activities.

Expenses from ordinary activities, including expenses to purchase inventories, are reduced by the
amount of incentives from suppliers, such as discounts, rebates etc. Discounts received are allocated
to the value of the respective purchased inventories and the cost of sales.

Accounting for loans and borrowings

Expenses related to the discharge of obligations under received loans and borrowings are:

. interest on a loan payable to the lender (creditor) under the terms and in the amounts set out
in the loan agreement;

. additional borrowing expenses.

Additional borrowing expenses are:

° amounts paid for information and consulting services;
] amounts paid for examination of the loan agreement;

° other expenses directly related to borrowing.

Additional expenses directly related to borrowing are included in other expenses at once.



Interest payable to the lender (creditor) directly related to the acquisition, erection and/or
production of an investment asset is included in the cost of the investment asset evenly irrespective
of payment terms under loan agreements.

Accounting for provisions
The Company accrues the following types of provisions:

o for doubtful debts;
e for impairment of inventories;
e forimpairment of fixed assets, intangible assets and capital investments in them;

e forimpairment of financial investments.

Provisions are created as follows:

Provision for doubtful debts is created for:

e doubtful debts of buyers and customers for products, goods, works and services;
e  other doubtful debtors.

A doubtful debt is the Company's accounts receivable that are not repaid within the contractual term
and are not secured by applicable guarantees.

The provision is established on a quarterly basis after verification of setttements with buyers and
customers for products, goods, works, services for each doubtful debt as follows:

o 100% of doubtful debts aged over 90 days are included in the provision;
) 50% of doubtful debts aged from 45 to 90 days (inclusively) are included in the provision;
e no provision is established for doubtful debts aged less than 45 days (inclusively).

Provision for impairment of inventories is established (adjusted) at the end of each month:

e for illiquid inventories, namely inventories (goods) not suitable for use for the intended purpose
due to defects, damages, goods past their expiration dates;

e for inventories with the shelf life of less than 6 months;

e for inventories in stock without movement (sale) within 12 months or longer.

* The provision is established separately by product type and inventory series in the amount of
100% of its value. Impairment of inventories is recognised in expenses in the period in which the
respective impairment provision is established and is reflected according to analytical features that
correspond to the expected disposal of the inventories (sale — account 90 “Cost of sales” or write-
off — account 91 “Other income and expenses”).

Accounting for estimated liabilities
The Company recognises estimated liabilities related to the following:

e  Payment of bonuses based on quarterly and annual performance.



3 payment for unused vacations;
P payment of bonuses to customers;
e Other estimated liabilities that meet the criteria in clauses 4 and 5 of RAR 8/2010.

Estimated liabilities related to payments to employees include liabilities to pay insurance
contributions and make other related mandatory payments.

Accounting for prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are carried on account 97 “Prepaid Expenses” at actual costs. Prepaid expenses
are written off on a monthly basis by debiting related expense accounts during the period specified
in the respective documents (licenses, contracts, etc.). If it is impossible to determine the period
from the relevant documents, it is determined by a committee whose members are appointed by
the Company's General Director.

Prepaid expenses include:

e  Asadvances made:
- Insurance expenses;
- Advertising.

e  Asother current assets:
- Certification expenses;

- Permits to employ foreign nationals.

Prepaid expenses are amortised:

° on a straight-line basis, according to the validity term of a license; a copyright agreement or a
contract on the right of access to websites owned by the granting party, or on a straight-line
basis during 5 years — in the cases where the validity term is not set by the
agreement/contract;

. on a straight-line basis, from the commencement of an insurance contract until its expiration.

Prepaid expenses are presented in the balance sheet within other current assets and other non-
current assets depending on the expected amortisation date.

Accounting for income tax
Income tax expense (benefit) is determined as current income tax plus deferred income tax.

Current income tax is determined based on accounting records. The amount of current income tax
corresponds to the amount of assessed income tax indicated in the income tax return.

Deferred income tax is determined as the overall change in deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities for the period, excluding the results of transactions not included in the accounting profit
(loss).

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised in the reporting period in which taxable temporary differences
arise, and deferred tax assets are recognised in the reporting period in which deductible temporary
differences arise provided that it is probable (i.e. more likely than not) that the Company will receive
taxable profit in subsequent reporting periods.

Provisional income tax expense is the product of the accounting profit and the income tax rate.



In analytical accounting records, permanent differences are broken down by types of income and
expenses, temporary differences are broken down by types of assets and liabilities to which they
relate and are recorded separately.

3. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Movements in historical cost by major groups of intangible assets and the amount of accumulated
amortisation by major groups of intangible assets as at 31 December 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively:

See Section 1. Notes to the Balance Sheet and Statement of Financial Results in table form.

4, FIXED ASSETS
The Company's fixed assets as at 31 December 2024, 2023 and 2022:
See Section 2. Notes to the Balance Sheet and Statement of Financial Results in table form.
Investment property
None.

5. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

Financial investments as at 31 December 2024, 2023 and 2022:
See Section 3. Notes to the Balance Sheet and Statement of Financial Results in table form.
Information about the existence and movements of financial investments is presented below:

(RUB’000)
i
Borrower Loan term A"""i:a't':ere“ Asat31/12/2024 | Asat31/12/2023 As at 31/12/2022
R
PISC Biosintez 31/12/2026 Ef'”ar(’)c;”f I 504,800 1,140,000 1,530,000
Total 504,800 1,140,000 1,530,000

6. INVENTORIES

The carrying amount of the Company’s inventories, balances of inventories with breakdown by actual cost
and impairment as at 31 December 2024, 2023 and 2022 and movements in inventories by types of
inventories for 2024 and 2023:

See Section 4. Notes to the Balance Sheet and Statement of Financial Results in table form.

As at 31 December 2024, 2023 and 2022 there are no inventories with restricted property rights, including
pledged inventories.

7. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable as at 31 December 2024, 2023 and 2022:
See Section 5. Notes to the Balance Sheet and Statement of Financial Results in table form




Movements in provisions for doubtful receivables:

{RUB’000)
indicators Buyers and customers Advances made
Balance as at 31 December 2022 105,530 1,048
|ncrease in provisions - -
Use of provisions - -
Balance as at 31 December 2023 105,530 1,048
Increase in provisions - -
Use of provisions - E
Balance as at 31 December 2024 105,530 1,048

8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2024, 2023 and 2022:

(RUB'000)
Indicators 31/12/2024 31/12/2023 31/12/2022
Cash on hand _ N 6

Cash on bank accounts in RUB 62,501 7,050 403,846
Cash on bank accounts in 487 - -
foreign currencies
Deposits (cash equivalents) R N
Total Balance Sheet line 1250 62,988 36,050 403,852
Balance of cash in the Statement of 62,988 36,050 403,852
Cash Flows (lines 4450, 4500)
Breakdown of other receipts and other payments in the Statement of Cash Flows as at 31/12/2024:
(RUB’000)
Line

Type - For 2024 For 2023
Cash flows from operating activities
Other receipts 4119 253,973 46,422
Interest on deposits (for up to 3 months) 41191 7,277 6,501
Interest under bank account contracts 41192 20,034 7,652
Return of cash to the bank account (inaccurate details) 41193 77,081 2,757
Return of advance payments from the FCS 41194 - 20,928
Insurance coverage payment under Law No. 255-FZ 41195 247 -
Compensation under insurance policies 41196 149 323
Return of security payment 41197 29,228 5,306
Reimbursement of expenses under agency agreement 41198 118,458 -
Other 41199 | 1,499 2,954
Other payments 4129 (786,974) (616,798)
Advances to employees for current needs 41291 (32,292) (31,981)
Customs payments 41292 (599,485) (487,258)
Fines and damages paid 41293 (750) (769)
Payments to lecturers 41294 5 (481)
State duty 41295 (25) (68)
Taxes (except for personal income tax, value added tax and

|_Corporate income tax) cil2og (G149 (424)
Bank services for cash transactions (bank fees) 41297 (4,746) (1,670)




| nsurance services 41298 (41,552) (36,922)
\-/
[ payment of bonuses to customers 41299 (15,916) (12,423)
_,_.——// . » «
payments under writs of execution (alimony, overdue loan 412991 (3,578) (2.152)
payments)
Loans to the Company’s employees 412992 (12,639) (9,614)
i
Return to customers 412993 (432) (22,383)
el
| Other 412994 (75,044) (10,654)
_-—’, " - Ty
cash flows from financing activities
Other payments 4329 (112,870) (80,749)
Lease payments 43291 (112,870) (80,749)

Cash equivalents are represented by bank deposits with maturities of less than three months in
Russian roubles at the following rates:

- as at 31 December 2022: deposits were not placed;

- as at 31 December 2023: 13 %;

- as at 31 December 2024: deposits were not placed.

Presentation of value-added tax in the Statement of Cash Flows.
To present VAT in the Statement of Cash Flows on a net basis, the direct method is used.
9. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Other current assets as at 31 December 2024, 2023 and 2022:

{RUB’000)
Indicators 31/12/2024 31/12/2023 31/12/2022
Prepaid expenses 3,450 3,723 3,294
Other - 3 21
Total 3,450 3,726 3,315
10. AUTHORIZED CAPITAL
The Company's authorized capital as at 31 December 2024, 2023 and 2022:
Par value 2024 2023 2022
Share category i i
RUB Quantity, | pugooo | ™Y, | ruB 000 | Quantity,pcs | RUB ‘000
pcs pcs
Ordinary, fully paid 1,000 163,000 163,000 163,000 163,000 163,000 163,000
Total 163,000 163,000 163,000 163,000 163,000 163,000

The shareholding structure as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

(RUB’000)
Shareholder Ownership interest
2024 2024
SUN PHARMA (NETHERLANDS) B.V. 99 99
Ranbaxy Holdings (UK) Limited 1 1
Total 100 100




1

1. ADDITIONAL CAPITAL

Capital category

2024

2023

2022

RUB ‘000

RUB ‘000

RUB ‘000

Contribution to the property from SUN PHARMA (NETHERLANDS)

B.V. Agreement w/o No. dated 23 December 2024

270,000

As at 31 December 2024, the contribution to the property was not paid.

" 42. CREDITS AND LOANS

. Information about the Company’s credits and loans and their movement is as follows:

For 2024

{RUB’000)

Narrative

Balance at

the

beginning
of the year

Changes over the period

Addition

Accrual of %

Principal
repayment

of %

Repayment

Reclassification
from long-term
to short-term
debts

Exchange
difference

Balance
at the
end of

the
period

Long-term
borrowings -
total

(..

) (-

)

Credits

Interest on
credits

Loans

Interest on
loans

Short-term
borrowings -
total

1,238,

836| 1,102,035

131,117

(2,140,871

)| (130,363)

200,754

Credits

1,238,

836 1,102,035

(2,140,871

) (-

) -

200,000

Interest on
credits

131,117

Y[ (130,363)

754

Loans

Interest on
loans

(_
(_

)
)

For 2023

RUB’000)

Narrative

Balance

at the

beginning

of the
year

Changes over the period

Addition

Accrual of
%

Principal
repayment

Repayment
of %

Reclassification
from long-term
to short-term
debts

Exchange
difference

Balance

at the end

of the
period

Long-term
borrowings -
total

()

(-)

Credits

(-)

Interest on
credits

(-)

Loans

Interest on
loans

()
()

Short-term
borrowings -
total

- 3,438,836

126,352

(2,200,000)

(126,352)

1,238,836

Credits

- 3,438,836

126,352

(2,200,000)

(126,352)

1,238,836

Interest on
credits

)

()

Loans

interest on
loans

( =)
()

(-)
(-)




Main credits and loans

Annual interest rate under loan agreements with Sberbank No. 380D00CXL dated 10 February 2023 and No. 380D00GZ2
dated 20 April 2023:

from 20 February 2023 to 25 October 2023: CB rate + 1.5

from 26 October 2023 to 29 October 2023: CB rate + 1.8

from 30 October 2023 to 31 December 2023: CB rate + 2.0

from 01 January 2024 to 31 December 2024: CB rate + 2.0

. As at 31 December 2024 As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2022
Narrative Maturity —— P —
Principal | Interest Total Principal | Interest Total Principal | Interest | Total

ts - B N i . i B B B

~ By main lenders - - - - - - - - -
and agreements

e )i -ns A - _ - . - — - i

~ By main lenders - - - = - - - 5 g
~ and agreements

200,000 754| 200,754| 1,238,836 -| 1,238,836 ) )

200,000 754| 200,754| 1,238,836 -| 1,238,836 - B

380D00CXL dated 10 | 26/01/2025| 102,034 385| 102,419| 794,154 | 794,154 - -

20D00GZ2 dated |26/01/2025 97,966 369 98,335| 444,682 -| 444,682 - -

pril 2023

13. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Accounts payable as at 31 December 2024, 2023 and 2022:
See Section 5. Notes to the Balance Sheet and Statement of Financial Results in table form.

14. ESTIMATED LIABILITIES

Movements in estimated liabilities for 2024 and 2023: See Section 7. Notes to the Balance Sheet and
Statement of Financial Results in table form.

15. REVENUE

Revenue by ordinary activities for 2024 and 2023:

(RUB’000)
Indicators 2024 2023
Revenue from sales of goods 12,193,583 10,540,504
Financial discount (customer bonus) (716,913) (383,386)
Total 11,476,670 10,157,118




16. COST OF SALES

Cost of sales by ordinary activities for 2024 and 2023:

(RUB'000)
Indicators 2024 2023
Cost of sales of goods 8,137,857 6,861,859
financial discount (supplier bonus) (862,993) (608,937)
Total 7,274,864 6,252,922
Costs, by cost elements, for 2024 and 2023:
see Section 6. Notes to the Balance Sheet and Statement of Financial Results in table form.
17. SELLING EXPENSES
Selling expenses, by cost elements, for 2024 and 2023:
{(RUB’000)
2024 2023
Payl’Oll 1,026,901 904,305
Allocations to funds 283,218 240,731
Advertising 891,359 903,751
Marketing 1,703,962 1,223,927
Processing of goods 90,315 64,431
Certification 7,384 3,535
Maintenance and repair of motor vehicles 35,568 28,445
Insurance 44,908 36,335
Lease 15,943 19,239
Depreciation 109,302 79,694
Travel expenses 73,446 60,450
Hospitality expenses 2,836 2,032
Audit M 2,539 1,935
Software products 26,714 27,462
Other material costs 15,985 18,150
Provision for vacation pay 74,557 69,797
Provision for bonus payment 83,604 67,927
Other expenses 110,120 91,919
Total expenses: 4,598,660 3,844,066
18. OTHER INCOME
Other income for 2024 and 2023:
(RUB’000)
Income 2024 2023
Bonuses from suppliers (prior periods) 68,608 97,960
Adjustments of customs duties 5,320 15,314
Return of goods from customers for the previous tax period 3,598 2,487
Insurance indemnity / expenses for insured events 149 388
Sales and write-offs of fixed assets 4,349 1,205
Other 3,108 984
Provision for impairment and returned goods 12,779 -
Agency remuneration 7,300 =
Total 105,211 118,338




9. OTHER EXPENSES

other expenses for 2024 and 2023:

{RUB’000)
— Expense 2024 2023
_;ms) related to sale (purchase) of foreign currency 42,051 5
[ provision for impairment of inventory . 34,437
i Wmmed goods - 981
[ Destruction of pharmaceutical products 1,466 1,111
| mcounts receivable / payable 6 260
1 m-offs of fixed assets 999 379
“Bank services 5,365 7,772
] me fine 3,431 -
—@of customs duties 13,068 16,556
| Return of goods from customers for the previous tax period 4,640 3,381
Wmeraﬁon (VAT) 1,217 -
Leased fixed assets 10,198 -
Other 2,641 3,425
Total 85,082 68,307
20. INCOME TAX
The relation between income tax expenses for 2024 and 2023 and profit before tax:
' (RUB’000)
Indicators 2024 2023
Profit before tax (402,793) 85,357
including:

Profit taxable at 20% (402,793) 85,357
Provisional income tax benefit (expense) 80,558 (17,071)
Permanent tax expenses: (91,562) (61,047)

non-deductible expenses (44,074) (6,020}

limited expenses (47,488) (55,027)
Income tax expense (benefit) 91,562 (78,118)
Deferred income tax (158,586) (54,131)
Including due to changes in taxation rules, in applicable tax rates (69,061) -

| Income tax (67,024) (132,249)
Deferred income tax as a result of origination and reversal of temporary differences:
(RUB’000)
Indicators 2024 2023
Increase / (decrease) in deferred tax assets:

fixed assets (292) 324

estimated liabilities 137,103 68,270

1A (5) 64

Lease liabilities 28,610 28,810

Goods 14,777 (7,220)

Prepaid expenses 24,685 -
Total 204,879 90,248
(Increase) / decrease in deferred tax liabilities:
fixed assets (25,958) (24,246)

A (785) =

Interest on liabilities (1,476) (3,560)

Goods (4,917) (8,311)

Deferred income

(13,158)




(46,294) (36,117)
income tax benefit /(expense) 158,586 54,131

otal
9 _ferred

The income tax rate in 2024 and 2023 was 20%, taxation rules were not changed. Since 2025, the
income tax rate is 25%, deferred taxes are recalculated.

LEASE

Company as the lessee

The Company's leases are mainly leases of the following:
1. Leased premises (warehouse lease and office lease);
7. Vehicles (company’s cars).

Reconciliation of balances of the right-of-use asset by groups with breakdown by historical cost,
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment and its movements:

{RUB’000)
Indicators for 2023 Lease d Mavabie Total
premises property
' useful life, years 1-5 4 S
il Historical cost
| As at 31 December 2022 29,760 89,307 119,067
[ Restatement due to the automation of RFAS 25/2018 (20,786) (31,900) (52,686)
| addition 86,281 105,469 191,749
| pisposal (8,974) (16,154) (25,128)
Value revision - 588 588
| As at 31 December 2023 86,281 147,309 233,590
Accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
As at 31 December 2022 20,786 31,900 52,686
Restatement due to the automation of RFAS 25/2018 (20,786) (31,900) (52,686)
Depreciation 24,023 47,298 71,322
Disposal (8,559) (15,082) (23,641)
As at 31 December 2023 15,464 32,216 47,680
Including accumulated impairment - - -
Carrying amount
As at 31 December 2022 8,974 57,407 66,381
As at 31 December 2023 70,817 115,092 185,909
Indicators for 2024 Leased MoTable Total
premises property
Useful life, years 2 4 =
Historical cost
As at 31 December 2023 86,281 147,309 233,590
Restatement due to the automation of RFAS 25/2018 - - =
Addition 60,822 168,635 229,458
Disposal (86,281) (37,090) (123,371)
Value revision o (85) (85)
As at 31 December 2024 60,823 278,770 339,592
Accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
As at 31 December 2023 15,464 32,216 47,680
Restatement due to the automation of RFAS 25/2018 - . 5
Depreciation 29,369 71,390 100,759
Disposal (29,627) (31,487) (61,114)
As at 31 December 2024 15,206 72,119 87,325
Including accumulated impairment 3 = 5
Carrying amount
As at 31 December 2023 70,817 115,092 185,909
| As at 31 December 2024 45,617 206,651 252,267




Movements in the lease liability:

(RUB’000)
b:tir:::n — Disposal Lease Value At the
| dicators ogfthe g Added S payments revision/adjustment | end of
period made the

period

2023 71,681 191,749 13,223 2,686 80,749 588 192,630

2024 192,630 | 229,458 24,832 62,256 112,870 (85) 262,643

Maturities of the lease liability as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023:
RUB’000)
ndicators 2024 2023
Upto 1year 129,536 19,279
From 1 to 2 years 19,098 16,280
From 2 to 3 years 111,865 90,395
["From 3 to 4 years 41,751 96,187
' From 4 to 5 years - -
| Qver 5 years - -
| Total 302,249 222,141
| Discounting effect (39,606) (29,511)
Total lease liability 262,643 192,630
including:

i Long-term 148,746 174,214
Short-term 113,897 18,416

As at 31 December 2024 the Company’s lease contracts did not provide for any restrictions and there
- were no right-of-use assets pledged under loan contracts.

Leased fixed assets are recognised on an off-balance account.

22. RELATED PARTIES
The related parties of JSC RANBAXY:

. Immediate shareholders:

- SUN PHARMA (NETHERLANDS) B.V. (Private limited liability company) (99% interest);
- Ranbaxy Holdings (UK) Ltd. (1% interest);

Parent company of the group to which the Company belongs: Sun Pharmaceutical Industries
Ltd.

Companies under common control: Companies under control or significant influence of the
Company’s controlling beneficial owner:

BIOSINTEZ PJSC
SC TERAPIA SA (Romania)

Representative office of Sun Pharmaceutical Industries Limited

The full list of related parties as at 31 March 2024 is presented in the consolidated financial

statements of the group at the company’s website:

https://sunpharma.com/investors—annuaI-reports—presentationg[




Key management personnel of JSC RANBAXY.

Transactions and balances by groups of related parties

Transactions with related parties during the reporting period:

e The controlling beneficial owner of the Company is Dilip Shantilal Shanghvi, who is the head
of the parent company of SUN PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRIES LIMITED group of companies
and owns more than 25% of shares of the said company.

(RUB’000)
Applied pricing
Vol f
i : Type of methods for each ° ume_ © Volume. i
Related parties Type of relation transactions tvoe of transactions | transactions
ype o in 2024 in 2023
transactions
CEUTICAL Ottirrr:efr:eirzar;tg: 2 According to the
HARMA p M ) Purchase of goods | agreement (market 7,401,742 5,529,652
Pharmaceutical Industries .
price)
group)
ACEUTICAL Otiirn:efseﬁr‘;?:glfs Compensation for According to the
M pany _ discount given to g 810,698 706,897
INDUSTRIES LTD Pharmaceutical Industries — agreement
(India) group)
' Sun Pharma
(Netherlands) B.V. Key shareholder (99% Contribution to According to the 270.000 )
Private limited shares) the property agreement !
liability company
SCTERAPIA SA Otr::irn:efrtxeir‘;?:gu(i Aenidingifothe
: p y ) Purchase of goods | agreement (market 32,803 1,731,239
(Romania) Pharmaceutical Industries tiEE)
group) P
Other related party (a
SCTERAPIA SA company from Sun Payment for According to the 10.500 )
(Romania) Pharmaceutical industries marking of goods agreement !
group)
Representative office Other related party (a
of Sun company from Sun Agency According to the
4 i ) 1,687 1,687
Pharmaceutical Pharmaceutical Industries agreement agreement
Industries Limited group)
Representative office Other related party (a
of Sun company from Sun Sublease According to the 482 241
Pharmaceutical Pharmaceutical Industries agreement agreement
Industries Limited group)
Other related party (a
f S f
PISC Biosintez comp_any rom _un Loan agreement Repayment ot the 635,200 350,000
Pharmaceutical Industries issued loan

group)




Other related party {a | Accrual of interest
company from Sun under the short- According to the
giosintez Pharmaceutical Industries term loan agreement 16250 sl
group) agreement
Other related party (a Under contracts
4 company from Sun for the sale of According to the 217
C Biosintez Pharmaceutical Industries goods, works, agreement
group) services
h |
Ot cirr;i:;sirgi:gtfi GEgus A I According to the
iosi hase 496,7
Biosintez Pharmaceutical Industries pLkeies agreement el 1625259
agreement
group)
Other related party (a
company from Sun Turnover According to the
iosi 20,90 -
JSC Biosintez Pharmaceutical Industries premium agreement 120,903
group)’
. Ott::f)rn:ef:\ecf‘r%i:t\sllf?\ Agresment(for According to the
JSC Biosintez p ¥ . contract & 12,851 16,566
Pharmaceutical Industries - agreement
manufacturing)
group)

Accounts receivable from and payable to related parties of the Company as at 31 December 2023:

i

(RUB’000)
Amount of accounts Amount of accounts
Related party Type of relation receivable (payable), | receivable (payable),
As at 31/12/2024 As at 31/12/2023
Other related party (parent
SU TICAL 1 TRIE
\ PHA.RMACEU IEAL NDBSIEIES company of Sun Pharmaceutical (7,691,337) (3,120,671)
LTD {India) .
Industries group)
S V.
u.n Phafm.a (Ne.the_r_lands) B Key shareholder (99% shares) 270,000 -
Private limited liability company
Other related party {(a company
SC TERAPIA SA (Romania) from Sun Pharmaceutical industries (5,000) (1,729,166)
group)
Other related party (a company
PJSC Biosintez from Sun Pharmaceutical Industries (124,399) (23,576)
group)
et Other related party (a company
P
- BlgSlntez (foans granted and from Sun Pharmaceutical Industries 522,597 1,174,366
related interest) group)




: cash flows with related parties:

(RUB’000)
g . Type of Amount in Amount in
ated parties Type of relation transactions 2024 2023
= Other related party {parent
pHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRIES cornpany of S}Jn Payment of 2,065,850 6,600,568
(|ndia) Pharmaceutica! Industries goods
group)
Other related party (a
' ) company from Sun Payment of
5C TERAPIA SA (Romania) Pharmaceutical Industries goods 1,755,468 BB
group)
. Other related party (a
epresentative office of Sun company from Sun Payment under 1687 1687
harmaceutica| Industries Limited Pharmaceutical Industries agreements ! ’
group)
Other related party (a
! Representative office of Sun company from Sun Payment under ) (241)
]I pharmaceutical Industries Limited Pharmaceutical Industries agreements
_ group)
| Otiirn:?:;jirza:‘tglfa Goods sale and
IIII « . 2
i pJSC Biosintez pharmaceutical Industries purchase 74,999 148,367
i agreement
group)
R
1 t
aer iy | g o
PJSC Biosintez pharmaceutical Industries contract 12,851 16,548
manufacturing)
group)
Other related party (a
. company from Sun Repayment of
i iosintez Pharmaceutical Industries the issued loan (e35,200) (220 g8n)
group)
Other related party (a Payment of
. company from Sun interest under
41 90,190
i Biosintez Pharmaceutical Industries the loan (el s ( <1
group) agreement
Other related party (a Payman ()
company from Sun contracts for
PISC Biosintez P y ) the sale of = (217)
Pharmaceutical Industries
goods, works,
group) P
services
G

Form of settlements with related parties — monetary (cash transfer).




information about remuneration to key management personnel

in 2024 and 2023 the Company’s key management personnel comprised:
Director of the Department

Head of the Commercial Department

General Director

Field Force Effectiveness and Analytics Manager
Head of Pharmacy Division

Head of Commercial Sales

Head of the Legal Division

Head of the Medical Division

Chief Accountant

10. National Sales Manager

11. Head of Distributors Division

12. Head of Proposals

13. Head of the Commercial Department

14. Head of the Trade Marketing Division

15. Marketing Director

16. Head of the Regulatory Division

17. Director for Government Affairs and EAU Procedures
18. HR Director

19. National Sales Manager

(LGS GRelnlgam, 09, B0 [

Total remuneration for 2024 paid to key management personnel amounted to RUB 165,698
thousand (2023: RUB 160,398 thousand). All payments were of short-term nature.

Information about members of the Company’s executive and supervisory bodies

Members of the Board of Directors in 2024:

Name Position Period

from 03/02/2022, as well as elected as
Sergey Lepetan Chairman of the Board of Directors the Chairman of the Board of Directors

from 30/06/ 2023 |

Rakesh Sinha Member of the Board of Directors from 28/06/2022
Viswanathan Sethuraman Member of the Board of Directors from 28/06/2022
Yulia Khivantseva Member of the Board of Directors from 28/06/2022
Artur Valiev Member of the Board of Directors from 28/06/2022

In 2023 and 2024, no remuneration was paid to the Board of Directors.
23. EXCHANGE RATES AND EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES

Exchange rates of the Central Bank of Russia in effect on the date of the financial statements are as

follows:
{(RUB'000)
Currency 31 December 2024 31 December 2023 31 December 2022
usD 101.6797 89.6883 70.3375

EUR 106.1028 99.1918 75.6553




(RUB’000)
2024 2023
._/,
gxchange differences arising on the translation of assets and liabilities denominated ) A
in foreign currencies and payable in foreign currencies
.
Exchaqge dlﬁeren'ces arising on th_e translation of assets and liabilities denominated (32,683) (1)
in foreign currencies and payable in roubles
Total (32,683) (1)
24. BASIC EARNINGS
Basic and diluted earnings for 2023 and 2022:

Indicators 2024 2023

Basic earnings, RUB (311,229,948) 7,239,835

The weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, pcs 163,000 163,000

Basic earnings per one share, RUB (1,909) 44

Diluted earnings (loss) per share, RUB (1,909) a4
25. GUARANTEES AND SURETYSHIPS RECEIVED

Guarantees and suretyships received by the Company as at 31 December 2024:
(RUB)
Buyer Debt Security Guarantor / Surety
InterLek OO0 116,034,517.38 95,000,000.00 ALFA-BANK AO

Grand Capitat FC 000

992,606,566.82

600,000,000.00

BANK SAINT PETERSBURG PAO

Katren NPK AQO

563,207,976.33

1,500,000,000.00

KATREN AO

GDP 000 9,907,309.82 10,000,000.00 Sherbank of Russia PAO
BSS 000 63,629,276.77 50,000,000.00 Sberbank of Russia PAO
Vita Line OO0 159,524,227.85 120,000,000.00 Sherbank of Russia PAO

Zdravservis 000

648,866.55

5,000,000.00

RaiffeisenBank OAO

Total

Agroresursy OO0 100,620,908.11 50,000,000.00 Sbherbank of Russia PAO
Farmkomplekt OO0 212,784,268.45 520,000,000.00 Sberbank of Russia PAO
NEO-PHARM Q00O 34,965,159.25 40,000,000.00 Sberbank of Russia PAO
Protek TsV ZAO 2,041,451,626.33 2,065,000,000.00 Sberbank of Russia PAO
Farmiend AO 15,222,709.95 50,000,000.00 Sberbank of Russia PAO
Pulse FC OO0 1,778,781,528.31 1,500,000,000.00 Sberbank of Russia PAO
Farmperspektiva JSC 410,234,905.23 200,000,000 RaiffeisenBank OAO
6,499,619,847.15 6,805,000,000.00




EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

in February 2025, cash was received in the amount of RUB 270,000 thousand, contribution to
roperty from Sun Pharma (Netherlands) B.V. Private limited liability company.

7. GENERAL INFORMATION ON POTENTIAL MATERIAL RISKS OF BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

rhe economy of the Russian Federation displays certain characteristics of an emerging market. The
country’s economy is particularly sensitive to oil and gas prices. The legal, tax and regulatory frameworks
continue 10 develop and are subject to frequent changes and varying interpretations. The Russian
conomy continues to be negatively impacted by ongoing geopolitical tension as well as sanctions
mposed by some countries against certain Russian economy sectors, Russian companies and individuals.

significant geopolitical tension remains in 2024 which has been under way from February 2022 as a result
of further developments related to Ukraine. Sanctions and restrictions have been and continue to be
imposed on many Russian companies, including cutting off the access to the EUR and USD markets,
international SWIFT system and many others. A number of transnational groups have suspended or
ceased their business activities in the Russian Federation. In December 2022, the EU and a number of
countries outside the EU introduced a price ceiling on the Russian oil deliveries. The price ceiling was set
at USD 60 per barrel and is subject to subsequent review on a regular basis. In addition, in December
2022, the EU imposed the embargo on the Russian oil deliveries by sea. In February 2023, the price ceiling
on the Russian gas deliveries was introduced as well as the embargo on the Russian oil products. Despite
the recovery in trading volumes, financial and commodity markets continue to show volatility.

In 2024, the foreign exchange rates against the Russian rouble have increased significantly compared to
the rates in effect as at 31 December 2023. During 2024, the Bank of Russia raised its key rate from 16%
t0 21%. It is impossible to assess further sanctions and restrictions on foreign business activities of Russian
companies, as well as further negative consequences for the Russian economy as a whole, and the full
extent and scale of possible consequences. It is impossible to determine how long this increased volatility
will last or at what level the above financial indicators will eventually stabilise.

The future effects of the current economic situation and the above measures are difficult to predict and
management’s current expectations and estimates could differ from actual results.

The Company's activities are subject to various types of risks (financial, legal, country and regional,
reputational, etc.) to a greater or lesser extent.

28. ADDlTIONALINFORMATION

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief concerning the situation on the pharmaceutical
market of the Russian Federation, the ongoing special military operation in Ukraine and sanctions
imposed by foreign countries, as adjusted for potential external impact on the Company’s business
described in clause 27, all of the above do not cast significant doubt on our ability to continue as a going
concern for at least 12 months after the reporting date and should not cause significant changes in the
carrying amount or changes in classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements.

General Director

Artur Valiev

28 March 2025




